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REVIEW REPORT TO THE MEMBERS
ON STATEMENT OF COMPLIANCE WITH BEST  PRACTICES OF CODE OF CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

We have reviewed the Statement of Compliance with the best practices contained in the

Code of Corporate Governance prepared by the Board of Directors of AZGARD NINE

LIMITED to comply with the Listing Regulation No. 37 of the Karachi Stock Exchange

(Guarantee) Limited where the Company is listed.

The responsibility for compliance with the Code of Corporate Governance is that of the

Board of Directors of the Company. Our responsibility is to review, to the extent where

such compliance can be objectively verified, whether the Statement of Compliance reflects

the status of the Company’s compliance with the provisions of the Code of Corporate

Governance and report if it does not. A review is limited primarily to the inquiries of the

Company personnel and review of various documents prepared by the Company to comply

with the Code.

As part of our audit of financial statements we are required to obtain an understanding

of the accounting and internal control systems sufficient to plan the audit and develop

an effective audit approach. We have not carried out any special review of the internal

control system to enable us to express an opinion as to whether the Board’s statement

on internal control covers all controls and the effectiveness of such internal controls.

Based on our review of the aspects of the Statement of Compliance with the best practices

of Corporate Governance, nothing has come to our attention which causes us to believe

that the Statement of Compliance does not appropriately reflect the Company’s compliance

to the Code of Corporate Governance to the extent it is presently applicable in all

material respects, with the best practices contained in the Code of Corporate Governance.

Lahore Rahman Sarfraz & Co.

March 28, 2006 Chartered Accountants
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AUDITORS' REPORT TO THE MEMBERS

 We have audited the annexed balance sheet of AZGARD NINE LIMITED as at 31 December,

2005, the related profit and loss account, cash flow statement and statement of changes

in equity together with the notes forming part thereof, for the fifteen months then

ended and we state that we have obtained all the information and explanations which,

to the best of our knowledge and belief, were necessary for the purposes of our audit.

It is the responsibility of the Company's management to establish and maintain a system

of internal control, and prepare and present the above said statements in conformity

with the approved accounting standards and the requirements of the Companies Ordinance,

1984. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these statements based on our

audit. The financial statements of the company for the year ended 30 September 2004

were audited by another firm of Chartered Accountants whose report dated 28 December

2004 expressed a modified opinion regarding changes in accounting policies.

We conducted our audit in accordance with the auditing standards as applicable in

Pakistan. These standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable

assurance about whether the above said statements are free of any material misstatement.

An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and

disclosures in the above said statements. An audit also includes assessing the accounting

policies and significant estimates made by management, as well as, evaluating the overall

presentation of the above said statements. We believe that our audit provides a reasonable

basis for our opinion and, after due verification, we report that:-

a) in our opinion, proper books of accounts have been kept by the company as required

by the Companies Ordinance, 1984;

b) in our opinion-

i. the balance sheet and profit and loss account together with the notes

thereon have been drawn up in conformity with the Companies Ordinance,

1984, and are in agreement with the books of account and are further in

accordance with accounting policies consistently applied except for the

changes in note 1.1 with which we concur;

ii. the expenditure incurred during the fifteen months was for the purpose of

the company's business; and

iii. the business conducted, investments made and the expenditure incurred

during the fifteen months were in accordance with the objects of the

company;
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c) in our opinion and to the best of our information and according to the explanations

given to us, the balance sheet, profit and loss account, cash flow statement and

statement of changes in equity together with the notes forming part thereof

conform with approved accounting standards as applicable in Pakistan, and, give

the information required by the Companies Ordinance, 1984, in the manner so

required and respectively give a true and fair view of the state of the company's

affairs as at 31 December, 2005 and of the Profit, its cash flows and changes

in equity for the fifteen months then ended; and

d) in our opinion, Zakat deductible at source under the Zakat and Ushr Ordinance,

1980 (xviii of 1980), was deducted by the company and deposited in the central

zakat fund established under section 7 of that ordinance.

Lahore Rahman Sarfraz & Co.

Date: march 28, 2006 Chartered Accountants
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BALANCE SHEET
AS AT 31 December, 2005

31 December, 30 September
2005 2004

Note Rupees Rupees
EQUITY & LIABILITIES

SHARE CAPITAL AND RESERVES

Share capital 3 1,737,308,680 1,737,308,680
Reserves 4 403,331,469 362,142,241
Unappropriated profit 952,462,490 410,657,982

3,093,102,639 2,510,108,903

SURPLUS ON REVALUATION
OF FIXED ASSETS 5 278,943,671 306,564,511

NON–CURRENT LIABILITIES

LONG TERM FINANCING – Secured 6 2,678,232,532 750,000,000

LIABILITIES AGAINST ASSETS SUBJECT
TO FINANCE LEASE 7 40,173,972 116,503,819

LONG TERM DEPOSITS 8 2,907,643 1,147,729

CURRENT LIABILITIES

Current portion of:
Long term financing – Secured 6 365,437,468 300,000,000
Liabilities against assets subject to finance lease 7 68,343,306 63,081,881

Short term borrowings 9 3,142,402,324 1,492,909,892
Creditors, accrued and other liabilities 10 791,641,172 691,981,192
Provision for taxation 11 79,679,935 64,824,871
Unclaimed dividends 362,062 95,414

4,447,866,267 2,612,893,250

CONTINGENCIES AND COMMITMENTS 12
10,541,226,724 6,297,218,212

The annexed notes form an integral part of these financial statements.

Chief Executive
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31 December, 30 September
2005 2004

Note Rupees Rupees
ASSETS

NON-CURRENT ASSETS
OPERATING FIXED ASSETS 13 3,113,043,032 2,847,936,402
CAPITAL WORK IN PROGRESS 14 2,459,655,906 84,292,338

5,572,698,938 2,932,228,740

INTANGIBLE ASSETS 15 73,937,276 88,375,589

LONG TERM INVESTMENTS 16 93,517,562 2,666,296

LONG TERM DEPOSITS 17 29,745,135 18,517,830

CURRENT ASSETS
 

Stores, spares and loose tools 18 87,790,355 72,608,693
Stock in trade 19 2,034,180,550 1,394,729,330
Trade debts 20 1,013,883,584 945,111,856
Derivative financial instruments 21 13,458,916 – 
Advances, deposits, prepayments

and other receivables 22 895,807,879 712,923,170
Current maturity of Long term investments 16.3 9,637,121 – 
Short term investments 23 670,927,050 109,148,931
Cash and bank balances 24 45,642,358 20,907,777

4,771,327,813 3,255,429,757

10,541,226,724 6,297,218,212

Director
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PROFIT AND LOSS ACCOUNT
For the Period of 15 months ended 31 December, 2005

01 October, 04 01 October, 03
to to

31 December, 30 September
2005 2004

Note Rupees Rupees

SALES - Net 25 4,422,472,357 3,155,912,427

COST OF SALES 26 3,288,786,063 2,440,779,273
   

GROSS PROFIT 1,133,686,294 715,133,154

ADMINISTRATIVE AND SELLING EXPENSES 27 320,622,883 185,112,548
   

OPERATING PROFIT 813,063,411 530,020,606

OTHER INCOME 29 305,852,832 9,154,424

1,118,916,243 539,175,030
OTHER CHARGES

Finance Cost 30 290,508,556 122,998,014
Workers' Profit Participation Fund 10.1 24,509,700 20,803,281
Others 31 11,761,051 111,400

326,779,307 143,912,695

PROFIT BEFORE TAXATION 792,136,936 395,262,335

PROVISION FOR TAXATION 11.1 50,843,271 20,000,000
   

PROFIT AFTER TAXATION 741,293,665 375,262,335

EARNINGS PER SHARE - Basic 32      7.42 4.31
- Diluted 6.47 4.30

The annexed notes form an integral part of these financial statements.

Chief Executive Director
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AZGARD-9

CASH FLOW STATEMENT
For the period of 15 months ended 31 December, 2005

01 October, 04 01 October, 03
to to

31 December, 30 September
2005 2004

Note    Rupees Rupees
CASH FLOW FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES

Profit before taxation 792,136,936 395,262,335
Adjustment for:

Depreciation 264,030,365 170,505,791
Amortization of intangible assets 40,530,337 22,964,732
Gain on sale of investments (199,442,372) (1,192,320)
Unrealised gain on investments (35,039,438) (6,951,688)
(Gain)/Loss on disposal of fixed assets 6,661,778 (266,005)
Dividend income (38,934,462) –
Gratuity-net – (25,512,837)
Interest income (17,966,099) (710,367)
Finance cost 308,474,655 123,708,381

328,314,764 282,545,687

Operating profit before working capital changes 1,120,451,700 677,808,022

Changes in working capital 36 (937,900,310) (715,135,831)

Cash flow from operations 182,551,390 (37,327,809)

Finance cost paid (180,351,069) (106,270,614)
Expenses on issue of company’s securities (34,775,530) (37,241,757)
Long term deposits (11,227,305) (14,868,110)
long term deposits payable 1,759,914 (5,240,773)
Taxes paid (57,758,405) (25,275,947)

NET CASH OUT FLOW FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES (99,801,005) (226,225,010)

CASH FLOW FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES

Fixed capital expenditure (2,916,815,165) (769,994,316)
Intangible assets (1,174,441) (111,788,860)
Sale proceeds of fixed assets 5,652,825 1,278,805
Sale proceeds of short term investments – 1,192,320
Long term investments (100,482,545) (1,660,264)
Dividend income 38,934,462 –
Interest received 17,966,099 710,367
Short term investments (327,296,310) (102,197,243)

NET CASH USED IN INVESTING ACTIVITIES (3,283,215,075) (982,459,191)

CASH FLOW FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES

Preference shares issued –  868,654,340
Long term financing obtained 2,143,670,000 650,000,000
Repayment of long term loans (150,000,000) (350,000,000)
Dividend paid (164,343,349) (269)
Short term finances– net 1,649,492,432 64,253,791
Finance lease liabilities paid (71,068,422) (24,917,634)

NET CASH INFLOW FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES 3,407,750,661 1,207,990,228

NET INCREASE/(DECREASE) IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 24,734,581 (693,973)
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

AT THE BEGINNING OF THE period 20,907,777 21,601,750

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT THE END OF THE period 45,642,358 20,907,777

the annexed notes from an integral part of these financial statements.

Chief Executive Director
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STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
For the period of 15 months ended 31 December, 2005
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NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS
For the period of 15 months ended 31 December, 2005

1 STATUS AND ACTIVITIES

The Company was incorporated in Pakistan as a public limited Company and its shares are
quoted at Karachi Stock Exchange (Guarantee) Limited. The Company is a composite spinning,
weaving, dyeing and stitching unit engaged in the manufacturing of yarn, denim and denim
products. The registered office of the Company is situated at Ismail-aiwan-e-science, off
shahrah-e-roomi, Lahore.

1.1 Change in financial year

The Company has been accorded approval by commissioner of income tax to adopt
calendar year as financial year with effect from January 01, 2006 and also obtained
special permission from SECP to prepare financial statements exceeding twelve
months. As such these financial statements are prepared for fifteen months and
corresponding figures of profit and loss account, cash flow statement, statement
of changes in equity and the related notes are for one year.

2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

2.1 Statement of compliance

These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the approved
accounting standards as applicable in Pakistan and the requirements of Companies
Ordinance, 1984 (the Ordinance). Approved accounting standards comprise of such
International Accounting standards as notified under the provisions of the
Ordinance. Where the requirements of the Ordinance or directives issued by the
Securities and Exchange Commission of Pakistan differ with the requirements of
these standards, the requirements of the Ordinance or the said directives take
precedence.

2.2 Accounting convention

These accounts have been prepared under the historical cost convention except
as stated in notes 2.5, 2.12 and 2.13 relating to certain fixed assets that have
been included at revalued amounts, monetary assets and liabilities in foreign
currencies which have been translated and certain financial instruments which are
stated at fair value.

2.3 Staff retirement benefits

The Company operated an unfunded gratuity and replaced it with provident fund
last year. Currently the Company operates an approved defined contributory
provident fund for its employees. Equal contributions are made by employee and
the Company @ 8.5 % per month of the basic pay. Interest is charged @ 8.25% on
the outstanding fund balance and is charged to Profit and loss account.

2.4 Taxation

Current

Income tax expense represents the sum of current tax payable, and adjustments,
if any, to provision for tax made in prior years arising from assessments completed
during the period for such years.

Deferred

Deferred tax is provided using the liability method on all temporary timing differences
at the balance sheet date between the tax base of assets and liabilities and their
carrying amounts for financial statements' reporting purposes taking into
consideration the implications of taxes payable under presumptive tax regime,
if any.
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NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS
For the period of 15 months ended 31 December, 2005

Deferred tax assets are recognised only to the extent that it is probable that
future taxable profits will be available against which these assets can be utilised.

2.5 Operating fixed assets, depreciation and capital work in progress

Operating fixed assets, except freehold land, are stated at cost or revalued
amounts less accumulated depreciation. Freehold land is stated at revalued amount.

Depreciation is charged to income for the period applying the reducing balance
method. Amount equal to incremental depreciation charged during the period on
revalued amount of assets is transferred from surplus on revaluation of fixed
assets to unappropriated profit/accumulated loss through statement of changes
in equity. The adjustments made in this context and the amounts involved have been
disclosed in note 5 (surplus on revaluation of fixed assets).

The useful life and depreciation method are reviewed periodically to ensure that
the method and period of depreciation are consistent with the expected pattern
of economic benefits from items of fixed assets. Rates of depreciation are stated
in note 13. No depreciation is provided on assets disposed of during the period.
Additions or extensions to production facilities are depreciated from the month
the assets are put in use.

Gain or loss on disposal of operating fixed assets is included in current period
income. Normal maintenance and repairs are charged to current period income as
and when incurred. Major renewals, improvements and replacements are capitalised
and assets so replaced, if not kept as stand by, are retired.

Capital work in progress and stores held for capital expenditure are stated at
cost and represents expenditure incurred on property, plant and equipment during
the construction and installation. Cost also includes applicable borrowing costs.
Transfers are made to relevant property, plant and equipment category as and
when assets are available for use.

2.6 Accounting for finance lease

Leases are classified as finance leases whenever the terms of the lease transfer
substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership to the lessee. The assets
subject to finance lease recognised as assets of the company at lower of present
value of minimum lease payments, each determined at the inception of the lease and
the fair value of the leased assets at the date of acquisition. These are stated
at cost less accumulated depreciation.

Depreciation is charged at the rate specified in note 13, to write off the assets
over the estimated useful life in view of the certainty of the ownership of the
assets at the end of lease period. The corresponding liabilities to the lessor are
included in the balance sheet as liabilities against assets subject to finance lease.
Lease payments are apportioned between finance charges and reduction of the
liabilities against assets subject to finance lease so as to achieve a constant rate
of interest on the remaining balance of the liability. Finance charges are charged
directly against income unless these are directly attributable to qualifying assets,
in which case these are capitalised in accordance with the Company's General Policy
on borrowing costs.
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2.7 Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production
of qualifying assets, which are assets that necessarily take a substantial period
of time to get ready for their intended use or sale, are added to the cost of those
assets until such time as the assets are substantially ready for their intended
use or sale.

All other borrowing costs are recognized as an expense in the period in which
these are incurred.

2.8 Intangible assets

2.8.1 Research and development

Expenditure on research activities is recognised as an expense in the period in which
it is incurred. Costs incurred on development projects (relating to design and
testing of new or improved products) are recognised as intangible assets only if
all of the following conditions are met;

– an asset is created that can be identified
– it is probable that the asset created will generate future economic
  benefits; and
– the development cost of the asset can be measured reliably.

All other development expenditures are recognised as an expense when incurred.
Development costs previously recognised as an expense are not recognised as an
asset in the subsequent period. Development costs that have been capitalized are
amortized from the commencement of the commercial production of the product
on a straight line basis over the period of its expected benefits. The amortization
period adopted does not exceed five years.

2.8.2 Others

Other intangible assets are amortised over the period of their expected benefits.
The amortisation period adopted does not exceed five years.

2.9 Investments

2.9.1 Investment in subsidiaries
Investments are initially measured at cost, cost in relation of investment made in
foreign currency is determined by translating the consideration paid in foreign
currency at the exchange rates prevailing on the date of transactions.

2.9.2 Other investments
All investments are initially recognized at cost, being fair value of the consideration
given and including acquisition charges associated with investments and classified
as whether held to maturity, held for trading or available for sale.

Subsequent to initial recognition, investments which are classified as held for
trading and available for sale are measured at fair value unless fair value cannot
be measured reliably. Investments held for trading are those which are either
acquired for generating a profit from short term fluctuation in prices or dealer's
margin, or are securities included in a portfolio in which a pattern of short term
profit taking exists. Investments intended to be held for an indefinite period of
time, which may be sold in response to needs for liquidity or change in interest
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rates are classified as available for sale. The investments are classified as non
current unless management has intention of holding these for less than twelve
months from the balance sheet date, in which case they are included as current
assets.

Subsequent to initial recognition, investments which are classified as held to
maturity are measured at amortized cost using effective interest method.

Gains and losses on investments held for trading are recognized in income. Gains
and losses on investments available for sale are recognized as separate component
of equity until investments are sold, disposed-off or until the investments are
determined to be impaired, at which time accumulated gain/loss previously reported
in equity is included in profit and loss account.

All purchases and sales of investments are recognized on the trade date, which
is the date that the Company commits to purchase or sell the investments. 

The fair value of publicly traded investment is based on quoted market prices at
the balance sheet date.

2.10 Stores, spares and loose tools
These are valued at cost determined using first in first out (FIFO) method except
items in transit which are valued at cost comprising invoice value plus other charges
paid thereon.

2.11 Stock in trade

Basis of valuation are as follows:

Raw materials
At mills – At lower of first in first out cost and net realisable value
In–transit – At cost accumulated to the balance sheet date
Work in process – At lower of manufacturing cost and net realisable value
Finished goods – At lower of manufacturing cost and net realisable value
Waste – At net realisable value

Average manufacturing cost in relation to work in process and finished goods
includes prime cost and proportion of production overheads.

Net realisable value signifies the estimated selling price in ordinary course of
business less cost necessary to be incurred in order to make the sales.

2.12 Foreign currency translations

Monetary assets and liabilities in foreign currencies are translated into Pak Rupees
at the rates of exchange prevailing at the balance sheet date, except those covered
under forward exchange contracts which are stated at contracted rate. Foreign
currency transactions are translated into Pak Rupees prevailing at the date of
transaction except for those covered by forward contracts, which are translated
at contracted rates. Exchange differences are included in profit and loss account
currently.



A
n

n
u

a
l 

R
e

p
o

rt
 2

0
0

5

37

AZGARD-9

NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS
For the period of 15 months ended 31 December, 2005

2.13 Financial instruments

2.13.1 Financial assets

All financial assets have been stated in accordance with the requirements of
IAS–39 (Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement). Financial assets are
initially recognised at cost which is the fair value of the consideration given at
initial recognition. Subsequent to initial recognition, financial assets are carried
at fair value except any financial assets whose fair value cannot be estimated
reliably.

A 'regular way' purchase or sale of financial assets are recognised using trade
date accounting.

2.13.2 Financial liabilities

All financial liabilities are initially recognised at cost, which is the fair value of
the consideration received at initial recognition. Subsequent to initial recognition
financial liabilities are carried at fair value, amortised cost or cost as the case
may be.

2.13.3 De–recognition

Financial assets are de–recognised when the Company looses control of the
contractual rights that comprise the financial assets.

Financial liabilities are de–recognised when they are extinguished, that is, when the
obligation specified in the contract is discharged, cancelled or expires.

Gain or loss, if any, on de–recognition and settlement of financial assets and
liabilities is included in net profit or loss in the period in which it arises.

2.13.4 Trade debtors

Trade debtors are stated at their nominal value as reduced by appropriate allowances
for estimated irrecoverable amounts, if any.

2.13.5 Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the Company has a legal or constructive obligation
as a result of past events and it is probable that an outflow of resources embodying
economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation and a reliable estimate
of the amount can be made.

2.13.6 Off setting

Financial assets and financial liabilities are set–off and the net amount is reported
in the financial statements when there is a legally enforceable right to set off
and the Company intends either to settle on a net basis, or to realise the assets
and to settle the liabilities simultaneously.

2.13.7 Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents consist of cash–in–hand and balances with banks.

2.13.8 Derivative financial instruments

These are intially recorded at cost being the fair value on the date a derivative
contract is entered into and are remeasured to fair value at susequent reporting
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dates. The method of recognising the resulting gain or loss depends on whether
the drivative is designated as a hedging instrument, and if so, the nature of the
item being hedged. The company designates certain derivatives as cash flow hedges.

The company documents at the inception of the transaction the relationship between
the hedging instruments and hedged items, as well as its risk management objective
and strategy for undertaking various hedge transactions. the company also
documents its assessment, both at hedge inception and on an ongoing basis, of
whether the derivatives that are used in hedging transactions are highly effective
in offsetting changes in cash flow of hedged items.

The effective portion of changes in the fair value of derivatives that are designated
and qualify as cash flow hedges are recognised in equity. The gain or loss relating
to the ineffective portion is recognised immediately in the profit and loss account.

Amounts accumulated in equity are recognised in profit and loss account in the
periods when the hedged item will effect profit or loss. However, when the forecast
hedged transaction results in the recognition of a non–financial asset or a liability,
the gains and losses previously deferred in equity are transfered from equity and
included in the initial measurement of the cost of the asset or liability.

2.14 Creditors, accrued and other liabilities

Liabilities for trade and other amounts payable are carried at cost which is the
fair value of the consideration to be paid in future for goods and services.

2.15 Dividend

Dividend on ordinary shares is recognised in equity in the period in which it is
declared/paid.

2.16 Revenue recognition

– Revenue from local sales is recognised on dispatch of goods to customers.
– Revenue from export sales is recognised on shipment basis.
– Export rebate is recognised when entitlement is established.
– Dividend income is recognised when the Company's right to receive payment is
   established.

2.17 Governement Grants

The company has opted for the method of offsetting the government grant against
the related expenses in accordance with the requirements of IAS 20 accounting
for Government Grants and disclousure of govt assistance by giving a separate
disclosure of nature and extent of government grant in note 28.

2.18 Related party transactions

All transactions involving related parties arising in the normal course of business
are conducted at arm's length using valuation modes, as admissible. Parties are
said to be related when they meet the definition as provided in the Companies
Ordinance, 1984.

2.19 Impairment

The carrying amount of the Company's assets are reviewed at each balance sheet
date to determine whether there is any indication of impairment loss. If any such
indication exists, the assets are written down to their estimated recoverable amount
and impairment losses are recognised in the profit and loss account. Consequently,
the depreciation charge is adjusted in the future period to allocate asset's revised
carrying amount over its estimated useful life.
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31 December, 05 30 September, 04
Note Rupees Rupees 

3 SHARE CAPITAL

3.1 Authorised capital

300,000,000 (2004: 300,000,000)
ordinary and preference shares of Rs. 10/- each 3,000,000,000 3,000,000,000

The Company introduced a new class of ordinary shares (non-voting) having no right to
receive notice of, attend, or vote at any general meeting except as otherwise provided in
the Ordinance, by passing a special resolution in extra ordinary general meeting held on
May 12, 2005. Authorised capital of the Company is Rs. 3,000,000,000 divided into
153,000,000 (2004: 213,000,000) ordinary shares of Rs.10 each, 60,000,000 (2004: Nil)
ordinary shares (non-voting) of Rs.10 each and 87,000,000 (2004 : 87,000,000) preference
shares of Rs.10 each.

Authorised capital of the Company has been increased to Rs. 15,000,000,000 by passing
of resolution in the extra ordinary general meeting held on March 7, ,2006 divided into
900,000,000 ordinary shares of Rs.10 each, 300,000,000 ordinary shares (non-voting) of
Rs.10 each and 300,000,000 preference shares of Rs.10 each.

3.2 Issued, subscribed and paid up capital:

23,777,369 Ordinary shares of Rs.10/-
each fully paid in cash 237,773,690 237,773,690

12,276,073 Issued as consideration
for machinery 122,760,730 122,760,730 

50,811,992 Issued as consideration
for merger 508,119,920 508,119,920

86,865,434 868,654,340 868,654,340 

86,865,434 Preference shares of
Rs.10/- each
fully paid in cash      3.3   868,654,340 868,654,340

173,730,868 1,737,308,680 1,737,308,680 

3.3 The Company issued cummulative preference shares during the preceeding year. These are
non-voting, non-participatory, partly convertible and are redeemable in 6 years from the
date of issuance. These are listed on Karachi Stock Exchange (Guarantee) Limited. The terms
& conditions of isue are as follows:

Rate of dividend

Annualised fixed dividend
@ 8.95% per annum to be paid.
In case of default in payment of dividend:

default in payment during first year and Rate of dividend will be 9.75 % for first year,
paid regularly during subsequent years. total dividend for the year will be Rs. 1.87

per share including 8.95% for second year.

default in payment during second year and Rate of dividend will be 20.73 % for second year,
paid regularly during subsequent years. total dividend for the year will be Rs. 2.93 per

share including 8.95% for third year.

default in payment during third year and paid Rate of dividend will be 31.95 % for third year,
regularly during subsequent years. total dividend for the year will be Rs. 4.09

per share including 8.95% for fourth year.

default in payment during fourth year and Rate of dividend will be 44.56 % for fourth year,
paid regularly during subsequent years. total dividend for the year will be Rs. 5.35 per

share including 8.95% for fifth year.

default in payment during fifth year and Rate of dividend will be 58.30 % for fifth year,
paid regularly during subsequent years. total dividend for the year will be Rs. 6.73 per

share including 8.95% for sixth year.

At the end of year six, if the Company fails to pay dividend and/or redeem the principal in the manner
mentioned below, the entire amount of the accrued dividend plus the face value of the outstanding
preference share will be converted, at the option of preference shareholder, into ordinary shares
at break-up value of the Company to be determined at that time.
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Redemption option and timing

Redemption will be allowed as follows subject to the provisions of Section 85 of the Companies
Ordinance, 1984, as follows:

50% of the issued amount at the end of fifth (5th) year of issuance/allotment;

50% of the issued amount at the end of sixth (6th) year of issuance/allotment;

Conversion/ Swap

The preference shareholders may at their option convert up to 25% of the value of their respective
preference shares into ordinary shares between eighteen and forty two months from the issue/
allotment at the conversion ratio of ten preference shares for 6.8 ordinary shares. Preference
share–holders exercising their right of conversion will not receive any of remaining fixed coupon
amounts on the converted amount.

Redemption reserve

The Company will create a redemption reserves of at least up to the amount of redemption of
preference shares i.e. at least up to the amount of outstanding preference shares submitted for
redemption by:

– Allocating Rs.150 million of the reserves as at 30th September, 2004;

– Appropriating profits of at least Rs 50 million each subsequent year to build up redemption
reserve;

– Creating additional reserves to match the amount required for redemption.

3.4 As a condition of approval of the scheme of arrangement, the Company had given
an undertaking to the Securities & Exchange Commission of Pakistan to pay dividends
of 25% over a period of three years before September 30, 2005.

31 December, 05 30 September, 04
 Rupees Rupees 

4 RESERVES

Capital Reserves 
Share premium on ordinary shares 71,657,838 106,433,368
Preference shares redemption reserve 212,500,000 150,000,000
Reserve on merger 105,152,005 105,152,005

389,309,843 361,585,373
Surplus on revaluation of investments 562,710 556,868

Hedging reserve
At the beginning of the year – –
Increase in the fair value of cash
flow heading derivatives 13,458,916 –

13,458,916 –

403,331,469 362,142,241
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31 December, 05 30 September, 04
Note Rupees Rupees 

5 SURPLUS ON REVALUATION OF FIXED ASSETS 

Opening balance 306,564,511 414,123,474
Surplus transferred to unappropriated profit 
relating to:
– Prior years – 83,873,950
– Current period 27,392,552 23,685,013
– disposal of revalued fixed assets 228,288 –

27,620,840 107,558,963

278,943,671 306,564,511

The Company revalued land, building and plant and machinery during 1999 and 2002
which produced revaluation surplus of Rs. 253.29 million and Rs. 160.83 million
respectively. The total surplus of Rs. 414.123 million had been added to the book
value of the assets and the corresponding amount had been credited to the surplus
on revaluation of fixed assets.

6. Long term financing - secured

Banking Companies:
Habib Bank Limited (HBL) 6.1 250,000,000 400,000,000
United Bank Limited (UBL) 6.2 200,000,000 200,000,000
Citi Bank N.A 6.3 200,000,000 200,000,000

Others:
Privately Placed TFC's 6.4 250,000,000 250,000,000
Term Finance Certificates (TFCs) 6.5 2,143,670,000 –

3,043,670,000 1,050,000,000
Less: Current maturity grouped under
current liabilities 365,437,468 300,000,000

2,678,232,532 750,000,000 

6.1 The Company obtained this finance from consortium of banks lead by HBL which is repayable in 10
equal half yearly installments commencing from December, 2003.

The finance carries mark-up based on 6 months offer rate of kibor – 280 bps with no floor no cap.
It is secured by way of first pari passu charge on the project through an equitable mortgage on
land and building and hypothecation of plant and machinery and personal guarantees of some of
the directors of the Company.

6.2 The Company obtained a bridge finance facility of Rs. 250 million from UBL against which the bank
disbursed Rs. 200 million up to September 30, 2004. It was repayable within two months from the
date of disbursement. However the Company entered into an agreement with the bank for conversion
of this facility into a term finance for a period of 5 years. The Company sold its assets for a
consideration of Rs.200 million and purchased back for a consideration of Rs. 309.269 million.
The finance is repayable in 8 equal semi annual installments commencing from December 2006 with
mark-up being payable on quarterly basis commencing September 2005.

The facility carries mark-up at the rate of KIBOR at the beginning of each calendar quarter plus
1.75%. If the Company fails to make payments on due dates mark-up is payable at the rate of 20%
for the period of default.

The facility is secured against 1st pari passu charge on assets, personal guarantees and demand
promissory notes.

6.3 The Company has executed an agreement with Citi Bank for sale of assets at Rs. 200 million and
purchase back the same at a purchase price of Rs. 322.792 Million. The loan is repayable in 6 equal
half yearly installments commencing from February 2006.

This facility carries mark-up @ 8% per annum. Mark-up @ 22% per annum is chargeable, if the Company
fails to make payment on due date. It is secured by way of hypothecation and/or hypothecation over
the present and future fixed assets of the Company and demand promissory notes.

6.4 TFCs have been issued by way of private placements with a consortium of institutional investors.
The total issue comprises of 250 TFCs having face vale of Rs. 100,000 and 45,000 TFCs having
face value of Rs. 5,000.
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Terms of repayment

Call option/ Partial call option

The Company may redeem the TFCs by way of exercise of the call/partial call option by giving written
notice to the TFC holders and the trustee of not less than ninety days. In case of exercise of call/partial
call option within thirty months from the issue date, the Company is liable to pay premium @ 0.1% of the
call/partial redemption amount.

Rate of return

The return on TFCs is payable semi annually. This is calculated at six months KIBOR prevailing two days
prior to the issue date and subsequently two days prior to start of each semi annual period in respect
of which profit payment due at the end of that period plus margin of 1.75%.

Trustee

In order to protect the interest of TFC holders, NIB Bank Limited has been appointed as trustee under
a trust deed dated 2nd August, 2004.

In case the Company defaults in any of its obligations, the trustee may enforce the Company's obligations
in accordance with the terms of trust deed. The proceeds of any such enforcements shall be distributed
to the TFC holders at that time on pari passu basis in proportion to the amounts owed to them in pursuant
to the TFCs.

Security

This finance is secured by first pari passu charge over present and future fixed assets excluding immovable
property and mortgage of immovable properties.

6.5 These have been issued by way of private placement and public subscription and are listed on the Karachi
Stock Exchange. Total issue comprises of 428,734 certificates of Rs. 5,000 each.

Terms of repayment

The principal redemption of TFCs are structured to be in ten unequal semi-annual installment starting
from March 2008.

Profit rate and payment

6 month KIBOR plus 240 basis points, without any floor or cap and is payable semi-annually in arrears.

Conversion option

TFC holders will have the right of conversion of 25 % of the value into ordinary (non-voting) shares,
rounded off to the nearest whole number, at a 30 % discount to the preceding three months average share
price of ordinary shares prevailing at the time of conversion, at any time between January 01, 2008 to
March 31, 2008 after giving 30 days advance notice to the issuer and trustee. Incase of existent established
market for the Company’s ordinary (non voting) shares at the time of conversion, TFC holders will have
the right for conversion into ordinary (non voting) shares, rounded off to the nearest whole number, at
a 15 % discount to the preceding three months average share price of ordinary share (non-voting).

Security

First pari passu charge on the present and future fixed assets of the company (excluding land and
building) with 25 % margin in favor of the trustee.

Trustee

In order to safe-guard the interest of the TFC holders, First Dawood Investment Bank Ltd. has been
appointed to as Trustee for the issue.

In case the company defaults in any of its obligations, the trustee may enforce the company’s obligation
in accordance with the terms of the trust deed. The proceed of any such enforcement shall be distributed
to the TFC holders at the time on a pari passu basis in proportion to the amounts owed to them pursuant
to the TFCs, subject to the priority rights of all other creditors and depositors of the Company.
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7 LIABILITIES AGAINST ASSETS SUBJECT TO FINANCE LEASE - Secured

31 December, 05 30 September, 04
Note Rupees Rupees

Gross minimum lease payments
Not later than one year 81,542,809 76,494,987
Later than one year but not later than five years 48,714,073 146,218,007

130,256,882 222,712,994
Less: Financial charges allocated to future periods 10,097,006 26,050,646

120,159,876 196,662,348

Less: Security deposits adjustable on expiry of
lease terms 11,642,598 17,076,648

108,517,278 179,585,700

Less: Current maturity grouped under
current liabilities 68,343,306 63,081,881

40,173,972 116,503,819

Present value of minimum lease payments

Not later than one year 68,343,306 63,081,881
Later than one year but not later than five years 40,173,972 116,503,819

108,517,278 179,585,700

The Company has acquired plant and machinery and vehicles from various Leasing Companies. Rentals
are payable in monthly/quarterly instalments upto November, 2008. The discount factors applied
range between 5.50% to 16.50% per annum. The Company intends to exercise its option to purchase
the leased assets upon payment of liability over the lease term and surrender of deposit at the
end of lease term. Taxes, repairs and insurance costs are to be borne by lessee. In case of termination
of the agreement, the lessee is to pay the entire rent of un-expired period. These are secured against
demand promissory notes.

8 LONG TERM DEPOSITS - Unsecured

This represents interest free deposits received from Company's employees under the
Company's car scheme. Vehicles have been provided to the employees against these deposits.
These are adjustable after specified periods by transfer of vehicle to the respective
employee.

9 SHORT TERM BORROWING

Short term finances – secured 9.1 2,395,697,717 1,414,826,753
Short term running finances – secured 9.2 702,820,703 67,756,639
Temporary over draft – Unsecured 9.3 43,883,904 10,326,500

3,142,402,324 1,492,909,892 

9.1 These represent short–term financing facilities available from various banks amounting to
Rs.4,380.29 million (2004: Rs.3,116.08 million) including US $ 15.83 million (2004: US $
10.5 million). These facilities carries mark–up at the rates ranging between Re. 0.06 to Re.
0.19 per Rs. 1,000 per day.

L/C limits available for opening letters of credit/guarantee aggregate Rs. 2,369.48 million
(2004: Rs. 1,040.25 million) of which the amount remaining un–utilised at the year end was
Rs.1,586.81 million (2004: Rs. 510.38 million).

These finances are secured by 1st pari passu charge over current assets, hypothecation
of stocks of raw materials, work–in–process and finished goods, pledge of raw materials,
goods imported through banks, export bills drawn under confirmed L/C's or contracts, lien
on documents of the title of goods and personal guarantees of some of the directors of
the Company.

These include foreign currency loan of U.S.$ 4.13 million (2004: US $ 6.99 million) which
have been converted into Pak Rupees at the exchange rate prevailing on the balance sheet
date i.e. U.S. $1 = Rs. 59.93 (2004: U.S.$ 1= Rs. 59.37).

The facilities are generally available for a period of twelve months and are renewable on
expiry, however, purchase prices are repayable on various dates, latest by December 31, 2006.

9.2 Short term running finance facilities available from various banks under mark-up arrangements
amount to Rs. 912.50 million (2004: Rs. 762.50 million).

9.3 It represents cheques issued by the Company in excess of balance at banks which have been
presented for payment in the subsequent period.

9.4 Finances under mark up arrangements include Rs.198 million (2004: Rs.58.78 million)
obtained in normal course of business at arm's length from Union Bank Ltd, a related party.
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31 December, 05 30 September, 04
Note Rupees Rupees

10 CREDITORS, ACCRUED AND OTHER LIABILITIES

Creditors 104,837,013 195,881,907
Bills payable – Secured 394,601,913 316,801,324
Accrued liabilities 76,380,977 54,792,260
Workers' Welfare Fund 20,000 20,000
Advances from customers 15,045,683 59,877,980
Mark–up accrued on:

Long term finances including TFCs 96,071,732 –
Short term borrowings 58,717,720 26,687,284

Lease finance charges 1,414,929 1,393,512
Worker's Profit Participation Fund 10.1 24,509,700 20,803,281
Customs duty, surcharge – 800,301
Tax deducted at source 15,470,450 9,064,521
Other liabilities 4,571,055 5,858,822

791,641,172 691,981,192 
10.1 Workers' Profit Participation Fund

Opening balance 20,803,281 13,075,810
Add: Interest on funds utilised by the Company 326,582 818,980

21,129,863 13,894,790

Less: Payments made during the year 21,127,936 13,894,247
Deposited in government treasury 1,927 543

21,129,863 13,894,790

– –

Add: Contribution for the period 24,509,700 20,803,281

24,509,700 20,803,281

11 PROVISION FOR TAXATION

11.1 Current
Opening balance 64,824,871 44,824,871
Add: Provision made during the period

– Current period 47,843,698 20,000,000
– Prior years 2,999,573 –

50,843,271 20,000,000
Less: Adjusted against completed assessments 35,988,207 –

79,679,935 64,824,871

11.2 Current status of pending tax assessments 

11.2.1 Income tax assessments of Azgard Nine Limited have been completed up to tax
year 2005. The Company's appeals for assessment years 1996–1997, 1998–1999,
1999–2000, 2000–2001 & 2001–2002 before the Lahore High Court are pending
for adjudication and assessment year 2002–03 is pending before CIT (appeal).

11.2.2 The Company has filed appeals pertaining to cases of Nafees Cotton Mills (now
merged into Company) before the Income Tax Appelate Tribunal for the assessment
years 1999–2000, 2000–2001, 2001–2002, 2002–2003 which are pending for
adjudication. The Company has also filed appeal before the Commissioner of
Income Tax (Appeals) for the Tax Year 2003, which is pending for adjudication.

11.2.3 Provision for current period taxation represents tax payable under section 154
of the Income Tax Ordinance, 2001(the Ordinance), keeping in view the provisions
of Circular No.5 of 2000 read with rule 216 of Income Tax Rules 1982 for
export sales.

11.3 Deferred Tax 
The export sales (including indirect exports) during the period ended December
31, 2005 achieved the threshold of presumptive tax and the trend is expected
to continue in foreseeable future. Accordingly, no provision for deferred tax
has been made.

11.4 Since the company’s profits are subject to taxation under presumptive tax regime,
no numerical reconcilation of the tax rate has been given.
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AZGARD-9

NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS
For the period of 15 months ended 31 December, 2005

12 CONTINGENCIES AND COMMITMENTS

CONTINGENCIES

12.1 The Company was denied exemption by the customs department under SRO 484(I)/92
from levy of customs duty and sales tax on certain plant and machinery. The
Company filed an appeal in the High Court, which was decided in its favour. The
department has filed an appeal against the same in the supreme court. In case of
adverse decision the maximum liability is likely to rise to Rs.9.40 million approximately.
No provision has been made in these accounts since the Company expects a favourable
outcome.

12.2 The Company filed a constitutional petition in the Sindh High Court against the
Customs Authorities. The case had been referred back to the Collector of Customs
through Central Board of Revenue and is still pending. The disputed amount of
Rs.1,293,061 has already been deposited with the Sindh High Court hence no
additional liability is expected to arise.

12.3 The Company imported textile machinery availing exemption from customs duty and
sales tax on importation thereof under various SROs. The claim subject to fulfilment
of certain conditions aggregates Rs.68.156 million (2004: Rs. 68.156 million).

12.4 The Company has filed an appeal before the Lahore High Court for recovery of its
claim from the Insurance Companies amounting to Rs.2.46 million (2004: Rs. 2.46
million). The appeal is pending for adjudication.

12.5 Refer contents of note 3.3 and 3.4 regarding dividends.

COMMITMENTS 

12.6 Counter guarantees given by the Company to its bankers outstanding as at
31 December, 2005 were for Rs. 24.00 million (2004: Rs. 0.102 million).

12.7 Commitments against irrevocable letters of credit outstanding as at 31 December,
2005 amount to Rs.126.89 million (2004:Rs.300 million).

12.8 The Company during the period entered into a financing agreement to the tune of
Euro 15 million with Deutsche Investitions - Und MBH, a financial institution
incorporated under the laws of Germany. The loan will be exclusively used to
finance the installation of new spinning, denim and garment projects. The first
disbursement of the loan has been received subsequent to the balance sheet date.
The loan is repayable in 10 equal half yearly instalments commencing August 15,
2008. The facility carries interest at six months EURIBOR rate plus 3.25% per
annum. In case of delayed payment 2% additional interest will be payable for the
period of default.

This loan is secured by first pari passu charge over land, buildings and all movable
assets, and promissory note.

12.9 The Company during the period entered into an agreement with M/s Ali Murtaza
Associates (Pvt) Ltd. for the purchase of a Garment Stitching Unit located at
Ferozepur Road Lahore at purchase price of Rs.530 million against which 10%
advance payment has been made as per agreement which has been grouped under
Capital Work In Progress, Rs.347 million will be paid on execution of sale deed
and the balance will be paid within one year of execution of sale deed and delivery
of possession of the property.
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NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS
For the period of 15 months ended 31 December, 2005

Cost / Revaluation Depreciation           Net Book
Particulars As at Additions Leased As at Rate To For On to Value as at

30 September, during the assets Disposals 31 December, % 30 September the disposals/ 31 December, 31 December,
2004 period transfers 2005 2004 period transfers 2005 2005

Owned:
Freehold land
– Cost 337,637,648 23,374,593 – – 361,012,241 – – –  –  –  361,012,241
– Revaluation 8,442,352 – – – 8,442,352 – – –  –  –  8,442,352

346,080,000 23,374,593 – – 369,454,593 – – –  –  –  369,454,593
Buildings on 
freehold land
– Cost 313,393,182 76,827,978 – – 390,221,160 5.0 88,930,334 18,633,575 –  107,563,909 282,657,251
– Revaluation 19,455,864 – – – 19,455,864 5.0 2,335,920 1,069,996 –  3,405,916 16,049,948

332,849,046 76,827,978 – – 409,677,024 91,266,254 19,703,571 –  110,969,825 298,707,199
Plant and machinery
– Cost 2,423,842,646 376,853,599 46,486,925 17,971,277 2,829,211,893 7.5 775,914,849 177,399,812 (9,040,434) 953,387,168 1,875,824,725

9,112,941
– Revaluation 386,225,258 – – 313,772 385,911,486 7.5 105,223,043 26,322,556 (85,484) 131,460,115 254,451,371

2,810,067,904 376,853,599 46,486,925 18,285,049 3,215,123,379 881,137,892 203,722,368 (12,977) 1,084,847,283 2,130,276,096

Furniture and fittings 12,559,256 10,382,028 – – 22,941,284 10.0 5,594,515 2,168,346 (2,141,458 ) 7,762,861 15,178,423
Vehicles 21,348,845 1,379,565 7,058,360 5,296,930 24,489,840 20.0 14,051,806 2,438,290 2,826,333 17,174,971 7,314,869
Tools and equipment 6,414,208 4,756,781 – – 11,170,989 10.0 3,507,445 957,943 –  4,465,388 6,705,601
Office equipments 39,923,367 31,383,917 – – 71,307,284 10.0 10,210,920 7,637,046 –  17,847,966 53,459,318
Electrical installations 59,799,469 15,589,838 – – 75,389,307 10.0 17,433,099 7,244,526 –  24,677,625 50,711,682

– 

3,629,042,095 540,548,299 53,545,285 23,581,979 4,199,553,700 1,023,201,931 243,872,090 671,898 1,267,745,919 2,931,807,781
Leased:
Plant and machinery 266,252,068 – (46,486,925) – 219,765,143 7.5 35,661,410 18,114,062 (9,112,941) 44,662,531 175,102,612
Vehicles 18,506,559 903,300 (7,058,360) – 12,351,499 20.0 7,000,980 2,044,213 (2,826,333) 6,218,860 6,132,639

284,758,627 903,300 (53,545,285) – 232,116,642 42,662,390 20,158,275 (11,939,274) 50,881,391 181,235,251

2005 Rupees 3,913,800,722 541,451,599 – 23,581,979 4,431,670,342   1,065,864,321 264,030,365 (11,267,376) 1,318,627,310 3,113,043,032

2004 Rupees 2,835,124,658 775,515,435 – 1,690,500 3,608,949,593   583,786,667 177,904,224 (677,700) 761,013,191 2,847,936,402

13.1 Land, building and plant and machinery have been revalued in 2002 by an independent valuer M/s. Blue Feathers affiliations. These assets were revalued on the basis of present replacement depreciated values.

13.2 Disposal of operating of fixed assets.

              Particulars Cost Accumulated Book value Sale Gain Mode of  Particulars of purchaser  
  depreciation proceeds disposal    

Vehicles
Cultus 655,000 235,800 419,200 568,598 149,398 Company's car scheme Mr. Ahsan Riaz Khan
Cultus 669,000 326,472 342,528 474,806 132,278 Company's car scheme Mr. Ahmad Imran
Toyota Corolla 1,379,580 496,649 882,931 941,323 58,392 Company's car scheme Mr. Aamir Usman
Toyota Corolla 1,368,580 492,689 875,891 940,924 65,033 Company's car scheme Mr. Muhammad Hussain
Honda Civic 1,224,770 589,848 634,922 634,922 – Company's car scheme Mr. Irfan Nazir
Machinery
06 Ring Frames 5,307,360 4,058,844 1,248,516 840,000 (408,516) Negotiation Intn'l Textile Machinery Enterprises, Karachi
Washing Machines 4,323,231 1,371,627 2,951,604 961,435 (1,990,169) Negotiation Master Ijaz & Master Khalil
Stitching Machines 8,654,458 3,695,447 4,959,011 290,817 (4,668,194) Negotiation Bravo International

Rupees 23,581,979 11,267,376 12,314,603 5,652,825 (6,661,778)

13.3 Depreciation for the period has been apportioned as under: 2005 2004
Rupees Rupees 

Cost of sales 253,998,842 164,167,467 
Administrative and selling expenses 10,031,523 6,338,324 
Capitalised during the year –  7,398,434 

264,030,365 177,904,225

13.4 Figures of both the cost of fixed assets and related accumulated depreciation have been increased by the amount of Rs.304,851,129 which represents balance of accumulated depreciation of Nafees Cotton
Mills Ltd. at the time of merger as at 31 March, 2002 which was adjusted against cost at that time. These re-arrangement of figures have no effect on the amount of depreciation calculated for the current
period and previous years.

13.5 Figures of tools & equipment and office equipment are re-classified in the current period having no current or retrospective effect on the amount of depreciation.

13. OPERATING FIXED ASSETS
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NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS
For the period of 15 months ended 31 December, 2005

31 December, 05 30 September, 04
Note Rupees Rupees

14 CAPITAL WORK IN PROGRESS

Buildings on freehold land 

– Cost and expenses 314,410,766 –
– Advance payments 153,915,717 22,060,697

468,326,483 22,060,697
Plant and machinery
– Cost and expenses 14.1 1,975,292,610 62,231,641

Electric installation 15,920,713 –
Office equipment and fittings 116,100 –

2,459,655,906 84,292,338

14.1 This includes purchase price, import duties and the cost directly attributable to
bringing the assets to the condition of operating in the manner intended by the
management. The break up is as follows:

– Purchase price including import duties 1,699,063,205
– Borrowing cost 92,169,262

– Other attributable costs

Raw material consumed 196,287,304
Salaries, wages and other benefits 81,523,102
Power and fuel 36,750,368
Stores consumed 27,040,824
Other Costs 20,500,102
Proceeds from samples sold (144,322,226)
Realisable value of closing finished goods (23,446,575)
Realisable value of closing Work in Process (10,272,756)

184,060,143
1,975,292,610 

15 INTANGIBLE ASSETS
Development costs 15.1 64,221,974 81,187,908
Textile quota 15.2 –  –

64,221,974 81,187,908
ERP – Oracle financial 15.3 9,715,302 7,187,681

73,937,276 88,375,589

15.1 This relates to expenditure on development of new products to gain competitive
advantage in the national and international market. The management plans to
continue this policy and increase research and development spending in the times
to come.

Opening balance 81,187,908 –
Cost incurred during the period – 81,187,908 

81,187,908 81,187,908 
Less: Amortisation 16,965,934 –

64,221,974 81,187,908 

15.2 Textile quota
Opening balance 24,917,583 24,469,044 

Purchases/sales during the period (1,353,180) 23,413,271 

23,564,403 47,882,315 

Less: Amortisation of textile quota 23,564,403 22,964,732 

– 24,917,583 

Less: Current portion grouped
under current assets – 24,917,583 

– –  

15.3 This represents cost relating to implementation of oracle financial, which is under
process as at balance sheet date.
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NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS
For the period of 15 months ended 31 December, 2005

31 December, 05 30 September, 04
Note Rupees Rupees

16 LONG TERM INVESTMENTS

16.1 Related parties

Investment in foreign subsidiary
Nafees International Tekstil Sanays ve 1,650,720 1,650,720
Ticaret ANONIM SIRKET 
10 billion fully paid ordinary shares 
of Turkish Lira 1 million each 
Equity held 51% 
Value of investment is based on the net assets 
shown in the audited accounts as at 
December 31, 2005 is Rs 1.832 million
( 2004: Rs 2.855 million )
Investment in Local subsidiary 
Azsoft (Pvt.) Ltd. 1,998,000 –
19,980 fully paid ordinary shares 
of Rs.10/– each 
Equity held 99.90% 
Value of Investment based on the net assets 
shown in the audited accounts as at 
December 31, 2005 Rs. 1.995 million

 
16.2 Others 

Available for sale:

Quoted

Colony Textile Mills Ltd.

456 (2004: 456) ordinary shares of Rs.10 each 8,664 8,664
Appreciation/dimunition in value of investment 2,736 (456)

Market value Rs. 25 per share (2004: Rs.18) 11,400 8,208

BSJS Balanced Fund Ltd.      

1,000 ordinary shares of Rs. 10 each.    10,000 10,000
Appreciation in value of investment    3,250 600

Market value Rs. 13.25 per share 13,250 10,600
(2004: Rs. 10.60)

Unquoted     

National Security Insurance Co. Ltd.

221,504 (2004:221,504) ordinary shares
of Rs.10 each 996,768 996,768

16.3 Held to maturity (Term Finance Certificate)

Chanda Oil & Gas Securitization Co. Ltd
12,895 scrips of Rs. 5,000 each 16.3.1 61,638,100 – 
Current maturity grouped under
current assets (4,255,350) – 

57,382,750 –

Niamat Basal Oil

3,913 scrips of Rs. 5,000 each 16.3.2 18,275,160 –

Current maturity grouped under current assets (4,217,118) – 

14,058,042 –

Telecard Limited – TFC

3,715 Scrips of Rs. 5,000 each 16.3.3 18,571,285 –
Current maturity grouped under current assets  (1,164,653) –

17,406,632 –

 93,517,562 2,666,296
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NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS
For the period of 15 months ended 31 December, 2005

16.3.1 These TFC's are redeemable in 7 years starting from six months after the date of
closing of subscription date and thereafter quarterly. It carries interest payable
quarterly at base rate plus 3.25% where base rate is a simple average of the last 7
days of ask side of three months daily average KIBOR rates with a floor of 8.95% and
cap of 13.0% per annum. These are pledged as securities against different finance
facilities availed.

16.3.2 These TFC's are redeemable by monthly installments in five years. It carries interest
at base rate plus 2.5% where base rate is average of the six month daily average rate
calculated on KIBOR on the last working day prior to start of each monthly period
for which profit due with a floor of 7.5% and cap of 13.0% per annum. These are pledged
as securities against different finance facilities availed.

16.3.3 These TFC's are redeemable in 6 years by semi-annual installments. It carries interest
at 3.75% plus base rate where base rate is simple average of the six month average
KIBOR rate calculated on the first working day of the start of each semi-annual period
for which profit is due.

31 December, 05 30 September, 04
Note Rupees Rupees

17 LONG TERM DEPOSITS

Opening balance 18,517,830 3,649,720
Cost incurred during the period 11,227,305 14,868,110

29,745,135 18,517,830

These include security deposits for electricity Rs. 5,327,400 and with Sui Northern Gas
Pipeline LTD. Rs. 15,265,300.

18 STORES, SPARES AND LOOSE TOOLS 

Store 60,280,813 50,503,425
Spares 27,069,375 21,443,068
Loose tools 440,167 662,200

87,790,355 72,608,693 

18.1 Included in stores and spares are items in transit valuing Rs. 0.662 million (2004:
Rs.0.750 million).

18.2 The Company does not hold any stores and spares for specific capitalisation. 

19 STOCK IN TRADE 

Raw materials 1,507,912,595 636,338,989
Work in process 227,469,465 220,379,606
Work in process-Trial run 10,272,756 –
Finished goods 264,903,136 537,888,016
Finished goods - Trial Run 23,446,575 –
Waste 176,023 122,719

2,034,180,550 1,394,729,330 

19.1 Included in raw materials are stocks in transit valuing Rs. 62.030 million (2004:Rs.75
million) and stocks in Customs Bond Rs.7.293 million (2004:Rs.Nil).

19.2 Stocks amounting to Rs.1,044.249 million (2004: 160.146 million) have been
pledged as security with various banks against financing facilities.

19.3 Trail Run stocks are valued at NRV.
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NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS
For the period of 15 months ended 31 December, 2005

31 December, 05 30 September, 04
Note Rupees Rupees

20 TRADE DEBTS

Considered good:
Secured 20.1 498,892,591 631,503,900
Un-secured 514,990,993 313,607,956
Considered doubtful 4,249,348 4,249,348

1,018,132,932 949,361,204 

Less: Provision for doubtful debts (4,249,348) (4,249,348)

1,013,883,584 945,111,856 

20.1 These are secured by letter of credit and includes receivable from Nafees
International tekstil sanays ve ticaret anonim sirket (Subsidiary Company) amounting
to Rs.75,889,879 (2004: Rs.102,891,846).

21 DERIVATIVES FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

The company during the current financial period has entered into local and foreign
currency interest rate swap contract to hedge the possible adverse movements in interest
rates. As the hedging relationship is effective & meets the criteria of cash flow hedge,
this arrangement qualifies for hedge accounting as per specification IAS 39: financial
instruments recognition and measurement.

The increase in fair value of interest rate swap result in gain amounting Rs.13.458 million
which has been recognised in the statement of changes in the equity as hedging reserve.

22 ADVANCES, DEPOSITS, PREPAYMENTS
AND OTHER RECEIVABLES 

Advances - Unsecured considered good
To employees 22.1 & 22.2 31,059,330 19,357,526
To suppliers, contractors
and others 407,631,218 158,543,173
Security deposit 3,115,165 9,314,906
Margin deposits 22.3 2,297,956 201,562,598
Prepayments 9,144,119 8,873,451
Export rebate receivable incl. SBP 6% 56,947,188 26,624,906
Sales tax recoverable 81,783,885 141,957,831
Textile quota – 24,917,583
Letters of credit 175,710,254 26,571,132
Tax deducted at source / tax refundable 107,676,585 85,906,387
Octroi refundable – 2,778,781
Insurance claim 12.4 14,462,187 2,462,187
Other receivables - Unsecured,
considered good 5,979,992 4,052,709

895,807,879 712,923,170 

22.1 Advances to employees are against purchase and other expenses on Company's
behalf .

22.2 No advances have been give to chief executive / directors during the period.

22.3 It represents deposits against letters of credit and other working capital utilised.
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NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS
For the period of 15 months ended 31 December, 2005

31 December, 05 30 September, 04
Rupees Rupees

23 SHORT TERM INVESTMENTS

Held for trading
Quoted

Bank of Punjab
13,000 (2004: 3,895,100 )
ordinary shares of Rs.10 each 1,358,399 29,355,786

Diminution/appreciation in value of investment (26,549) 995,875
Market value Rs.102.45 per share
(2004: Rs 66.27) 1,331,850 30,351,661

National Bank of Pakistan
160,100 (2004: 400,000) ordinary
shares of Rs.10 each 32,242,667 29,152,758

Diminution/appreciation in value of investment (310,722) 849,662
Market value Rs.199.45 per share
(2004: Rs 69.13) 31,931,945 30,002,420

Pakistan Telecommunication Co. Ltd
Nil (2004: 1,111,500)
ordinary shares of Rs.10 each – 43,688,699

appreciation in value of investment – 5,106,151

Market value Rs.Nil per share (2004: Rs 43.90) – 48,794,850

Muslim Commercial Bank Ltd.
30,000 ordinary shares of Rs.10 each 5,428,051 –

Diminution in value of investment (394,051) –

Market value Rs.167.80 per share 5,034,000 –

ABAMCO Capital Fund
4,897,000 ordinary shares of Rs.10 each 39,910,550 –

appreciation in value of investment 26,198,950 –

Market value Rs.13.50 per share 66,109,500 –

Askari Commercial Bank Limited
189,500 ordinary shares of Rs.10 each 24,089,087 –

Diminution in value of investment (60,487) –

Market value Rs.126.80 per share 24,028,600 –

Fauji Fertilizers Ltd.
65,100 ordinary shares of Rs.10 each 8,260,593 –

appreciation in value of investment 658,107  –

Market value Rs.137 per share 8,918,700 –
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NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS
For the period of 15 months ended 31 December, 2005

31 December, 05 30 September, 04
Note Rupees Rupees

Attock Refinery Limited
46,000 ordinary shares of Rs.10 each 8,054,170 –

Appreciation in value of investment 1,513,830 –
Market value Rs.208.00 per share 9,568,000 –

Faysal Bank Ltd
540,525 ordinary shares of Rs.10 each 35,425,806 –

Appreciation in value of investment 4,627,097 –
Market value Rs.74.10 per share 40,052,903 –

Adamjee Insurance Co. Ltd.
183,800 ordinary shares of Rs.10 each 22,375,803 –

Appreciation in value of investment 2,804,797 –
Market value Rs 137 per share 25,180,600 –

Lucky Cement
20,000 ordinary shares of Rs.10 each  1,584,958 –

Appreciation in value of investment 3,042 –
Market value Rs.83.90 per share 1,678,000 –

Pakistan State Oil Company Ltd.
6,500 ordinary shares of Rs.10 each 2,761,576 –

Diminution in value of investment (52,051) –
Market value Rs.416.85 per share 2,709,525 –

Pakistan Industrial Credit and Investment Corporation
4,000 ordinary shares of Rs.10 each 271,724 –

Diminution in value of investment (12,524) –
Market value Rs.64.80 per share  259,200 –

Held to maturity

Term Deposit Receipt 23.2 454,124,227 –

670,927,050 109,148,931

23.1 Investments in shares/ certificates of ABAMCO Capital Fund, Adamjee Insurance
Co. Ltd., Faysal Bank Ltd., Fauji Fertilizer Co. Ltd. and National Bank of Pakistan
are pledged as securities against various finance facilities availed.

23.2 The balance represent Investment in TDRs of ABN Amro Bank amounting to US $
500,000/- for a period of one month at the rate of 2.60% and in TDRs of NIB Bank
amounting Rs.423.943 million for a period of one month at the rate of 9.00%.

24 CASH AND BANK BALANCES

Cash in hand 1,497,894 2,556,878
Cash with banks in:
current accounts 34,116,304 9,563,317
saving accounts 10,028,160 8,787,582

44,144,464 18,350,899

45,642,358 20,907,777

24.1 Cash at banks on current and saving accounts include foreign currency balances
of US $ 158,205.83 (2004: US $ 132,764) & Euro 35,396.97 (2004: Nil) which
have been converted into pak rupees at the exchange rate prevailing on the balance
sheet date i.e. US $ 1= Rs. 59.73 (2004:US $ 1=Rs. 59.35) and Euro 1 = Rs.70.71.
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31 December, 05 30 September, 04
Rupees Rupees

25 SALES -Net NOTE
Local 750,216,920 1,613,246,671
Export - (including indirect export) - net of export development surcharge
amounting to Rs.5,730,404 to (2004: Rs. 3,484,649)
and exchange gain of Rs. 14,794,775
(2004:Rs. 13,221,017) 3,832,200,523 1,652,820,064

Waste 41,428,012 33,097,303

4,623,845,455 3,299,164,038 

Less: Commission to selling agents - Local 34,860,167 3,501,456 
                                                    - Export 19,377,300 34,874,588 

Sales tax 136,731,073 94,596,501 
Brokerage and discounts 10,404,558 10,279,066

201,373,098 143,251,611

4,422,472,357 3,155,912,427
26 COST OF SALES

Raw materials and other direct
materials consumed 1,820,580,742 1,748,032,339
Salaries, wages and benefits 354,746,907 283,661,014
Fuel and power 333,090,255 189,237,711
Store and spares consumed 152,724,507 48,628,540
Travelling ,conveyance and entertainment 9,220,631 16,704,076
Rent, rates and taxes 5,141,456 2,070,589
Insurance 8,064,020 6,792,699
Repair and maintenance 22,665,131 10,793,306
Processing charges 22,330,528 17,529,443
Depreciation 13.3 253,998,842 164,167,467
R & D Amortization 16,965,934 –
Printing & stationery 3,797,218 710,526
Communications 1,872,407 2,530,894
Others 17,745,768 6,921,232

3,022,944,346 2,497,779,836

Adjustment of work in process 
Opening 220,379,606 172,868,794 
Closing (227,469,465) (220,379,606)

(7,089,859) (47,510,812)

Cost of goods manufactured 3,015,854,487 2,450,269,024
Adjustment of finished goods

Opening 538,010,735 472,496,892 

Purchases – 56,024,092 
Closing (265,079,159) (538,010,735)

272,931,576 (9,489,751)

3,288,786,063 2,440,779,273

26.1 Salaries, wages and benefits include contribution in respect of staff retirement
benefits amounting to Rs. 21,439,024 ( 2004; 14,531,265).
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NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS
For the period of 15 months ended 31 December, 2005

31 December, 05 30 September, 04
NOTE Rupees Rupees

27 ADMINISTRATIVE AND SELLING EXPENSES

Salaries and benefits 27.1 97,413,171 52,250,069
Travelling and conveyance including
chief executive/directors'
travelling Rs. 22,367,701 (2004:Rs.9,887,430) 54,340,963 16,005,579
Power and fuel 3,303,763 1,580,446
Repair and maintenance 3,581,988 2,514,315
Rent, rates and taxes 760,014 1,247,250
Insurance 1,764,074 450,145
Freight and clearing charges 80,684,019 48,598,511
Printing and stationery 3,449,924 2,114,502
Communications 19,112,928 11,295,398
Advertisement and sales promotion 4,501,610 6,829,196
Legal and professional charges 27.2 6,452,585 2,127,432
Depreciation 13.3 10,031,523 6,338,324
Amortisation of textile quota 23,564,403 22,964,732
Fees and subscription 3,441,908 2,636,288
Others 8,220,010 8,160,361

320,622,883 185,112,548

27.1 Salaries, wages and benefits includes contributions in respect of staff retirement
benefits amounting to Rs. 2,886,353/- (2004: 2,804,677).

27.2 Legal and professional charges
The charges for professional
services include the following 
in respect of auditor's services for:

Audit 185,000 185,000
Certification and other services 161,250 30,000

346,250 215,000
28 GOVERNMENTS GRANTS

The company during the period has lodged claims amounting for Rs. 53,036,367 as
research & development rebate which has been treated as government grant in accordance
with IAS–20, "Government Grant" and it has been deducted in reporting expenses relating
to hirinng the consultants for adoption of new technologies, innovation and sales
promotion.

29 OTHER INCOME 

Financial assets 

Gain on sale of investments 199,442,372 1,192,320
Unrealised gain on investments held for trading 35,039,438 6,951,688
Mark–up on TFC'S 29,038,697 –
Dividend income 38,934,462 –
OTHERS 
Gain on sale of fixed assets 405,101 266,005
Miscellaneous 2,992,762 744,411

305,852,832 9,154,424

30 FINANCE COST

Interest on:
Workers' Profit Participation Fund 326,582 818,980

Mark up on:
Long term financing - Secured 93,647,624 23,198,011
Short term borrowings -Secured 9.4 176,264,632 74,804,694

Lease finance charges 9,724,293 16,644,210
Guarantee commission and bank charges 28,511,524 8,242,486
Less: Return on bank deposits (17,966,099) (710,367)

290,508,556 122,998,014

These include makr-up paid to related parties to the tune of Rs. 6,604,158 ( 2004: 833,912).
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AZGARD-9

NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS
For the period of 15 months ended 31 December, 2005

31 December, 05 30 September, 04
Note Rupees Rupees

31 OTHER CHARGES

Loss on disposal of fixed assets 7,066,879 –
Donations 31.1 4,694,172 110,944
Provision for diminution in value of investments – 456

11,761,051 111,400

31.1 Recipients of donations do not include any donee in whom any director or his / her
spouse has any interest.

32 EARNINGS PER SHARE (EPS)

Basic 
Net profit after tax attributable to ordinary shareholders 644,112,961 373,984,342

No. of shares No. of shares

Weighted average Number of ordinary shares 86,865,434 86,865,434

Rupees Rupees

EPS 7.42 4.31

Diluted
Net profit after tax attributable to
ordinary shareholders 644,112,961 373,984,342
Effect of dilutive potential ordinary shares:
Interest on convertible TFCs 16,478,929 –
Preference dividend 24,295,176 319,498
Earnings for the purposes of diluted
earning per share 684,887,066 374,303,840

No. of shares No. of shares
Weighted average number of ordinary
shares for basic EPS 86,865,434 86,865,434
Effect of dilutive potential ordinary shares:
Convertible TFCs 4,203,110 –
Preference shares 14,767,124 242,747
Weighted average no. of ordinary shares for the
purposes of diluted earning per share 105,835,668 87,108,181

 Rupees Rupees

EPS 6.47 4.30 

 33 REMUNERATION OF CHIEF EXECUTIVE AND EXECUTIVES

The aggregate amount charged in the accounts for remuneration, including all benefits,
to the Chief Executive, Directors and Executives of the Company is as follows:

Chief Executive Directors Executives  
2005 2004 2005 2004 2005 2004

Rupees Rupees Rupees Rupees Rupees Rupees
Managerial remuneration

Basic salary 2,400,000 1,799,604 3,625,005 1,379,340 8,869,326 6,192,766
House rent 960,000 240,000 1,450,050 551,726 3,570,688 2,115,980
Utilities 240,000 60,000 362,505 137,938 853,851 564,793
Leave encashment – 60,000 – – – 19,911

Retirement benefits 102,000 – – – 697,790 714,689
Bonus – – – – 185,396 1,388,518

3,702,000 2,159,604 5,437,560 2,069,004 14,177,051 10,996,657
Number of persons 1 1 5 4 11 9

33.1 In addition to above the Chief Executive has been provided with free use of the
Company maintained car. None (2004: None) of the Directors/Executives have been
provided with the Company maintained cars.

33.2 No fee has been paid to the directors during the year (2004: NIL).
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NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS
For the period of 15 months ended 31 December, 2005

31 December, 05 30 September, 04
NOTE Rupees Rupees

34 TRANSACTIONS WITH RELATED PARTIES 

Subsidiaries

Sales 13,180,001 118,284,677

Associates

Retainer ship fee – 1,189,718
Underwriting fee – 26,059,631
Brokerage 4,834,233 230,975
Mark–up paid 6,604,158 833,912
Purchases 48,617,868 –
Misc. expenses 731,800 445,818

There were no receivables or payables to related parties other than those referred in
notes 9.4 and 20.1.

35 CAPACITY AND PRODUCTION
Spinning

No. of Rotors installed 1,290 1,272
Plant capacity on the basis of
utilization converted into 6.5s count -Kgs. 9,331,418 6,382,842
(based on 3 shifts per day) 
Actual production converted into
6.5s count 35.1 -Kgs. 7,566,724 5,145,768

No. of Spindles installed 40,776 39,024
Plant capacity on the basis of
utilization converted into 20s count -Kgs. 14,777,085 10,570,050
(based on 3 shifts per day) 
Actual production converted into
20s count 34.2 -Kgs. 12,136,950 9,561,801

Weaving

No. of Looms installed 102 9 3
Annual rated capacity on the basis
of utilization - at 38 picks -Mtrs. 21,433,949 15,222,452
(based on 3 shifts per day) 
Actual production - at 38 picks Mtrs. 15,951,677 13,871,935

Garments
No. of Stitching machines installed 537 287
Annual capacity on the basis of utilization -Pcs. 4,150,000 2,400,000
(based on 2 shifts per day) 
Actual production -Pcs. 2,261,959 1,583,414

35.1 Reduced requirement of open end yarn in the fabric produced during the period
resulted in under utilisation of production capacity.

35.2 It is difficult to describe precisely the production capacity in the textile industry
since it fluctuates widely depending on various factors such as count of yarn
spun, spindles speed, twist and raw materials used etc. It also varies according
to the pattern of production adopted in particular period.
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AZGARD-9

NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS
For the period of 15 months ended 31 December, 2005

31 December, 05 30 September, 04
Rupees Rupees

36 CHANGES IN WORKING CAPITAL 

(Increase) in current assets
Stores, spares and loose tools (15,181,662) (26,830,897)
Stock in trade (639,451,220) (128,952,229)
Trade debts (68,771,728) (408,495,772)
Advances, deposits, prepayments and
other receivables (excluding income tax) (186,032,094) (77,470,517)

(Decrease)/increase in current liabilities
Creditors, accrued and other liabilities

(excluding accrued financial charges) (28,463,606) (73,386,416)

(937,900,310) (715,135,831)

37 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 

37.1 Fair value is the amount for which an asset could be exchanged, or a liability
settled between knowledgeable willing parties in an arm's length transaction. As
at 31 December 2005 the net fair value of all financial instruments has been based
on the valuation methodology outlined below:

LONG-TERM DEPOSITS

Long term deposits does not carry any rate of return. Their fair value has been
taken at book value as it is not considered materially different and readily
exchangeable.

NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES

For all non-current liabilities the fair values have been taken at book values as
these are not considered materially different based on the current market rates
of return and repricing profiles of similar non-current liabilities.

OTHER FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

The fair values of all other financial instruments are considered to approximate
their book values as they are short term in nature.

37.2 Financial assets and liabilities 

Interest/ Interest / mark–up bearing Non interest / mark–up bearing  

mark–up Maturity Maturity Sub–total Maturity Maturity Sub–total  
rates range upto one after one   upto one after one    

% per year year   year year   Total
annum              

             ( R  U  P  E  E  S )
FINANCIAL ASSETS:
Long term investments 6 month kibor  

-2.5% to 3.75% 9,637,121 88,847,424 98,484,545 –  4,670,138 4,670,138  103,154,683
Long Term Deposits –  29,745,135 29,745,135 29,745,135
Trade debtors – 1,013,883,584 1,013,883,584 1,013,883,584
Derivative financial instrument 13,458,916 13,458,916 13,458,916
Advances, deposits and
other receivables – 79,687,323 79,687,323 79,687,323
Short term investments 2.60% to 9.00% 454,124,227 454,124,227 216,802,823 216,802,823 670,927,050
Cash and bank balances 1% to 3.5% 10,028,160 10,028,160 35,614,198 35,614,198 45,642,358

2005   473,789,508 88,847,424 562,636,932 1,359,446,844 34,415,273 1,393,862,117 1,956,499,049

2004   8,787,582 – 8,787,582 1,121,657,091 2,666,296 1,124,323,387 1,133,110,969
FINANCIAL LIABILITIES:
Preference share 8.95% – 868,654,340 868,654,340 868,654,340
Long term financing 5.00% to 12.65% 365,437,468 2,678,232,532 3,043,670,000 – 3,043,670,000
Liabilities against assets
subject to finance lease 5.50% to 16.50% 68,343,306 40,173,972 108,517,278 – 108,517,278
Long term deposits and
payables 2,907,643 2,907,643 2,907,643
Short term borrowings 3.20% to 11.20% – 3,142,402,324 3,142,402,324 3,142,402,324
Creditors, accrued and other
liabilities 8.64% 24,509,700 – 24,509,700 767,131,472  767,131,472  791,641,172
Unclaimed dividend – 362,062 362,062 362,062

2005   458,290,474 3,587,060,844 4,045,351,318 3,912,803,501 – 3,912,803,501 7,958,154,819

2004   363,081,881 866,503,819 1,229,585,700 2,095,474,103 –     2,095,474,103 3,325,059,803

Off balance sheet items:
Commitments – – – 603,890,777 – 603,890,777 603,890,777
Guarantee – – – 24,000,000 – 24,000,000 24,000,000

2005   – – – 627,890,777 – 627,890,777 627,890,777

2004   – – – 300,102,000 – 300,102,000 300,102,000
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NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS
For the period of 15 months ended 31 December, 2005

37.3 Foreign exchange risk management 

Foreign currency risk arises mainly where receivables and payables exists due to
transactions entered into foreign currency. The Company incurs foreign currency
risk on sales, purchases and borrowings that are entered in a currency other than
Pak Rupees. The Company enters into forward contracts to guard against exchange
fluctuation and as such exposure to foreign exchange risk is minimal.

37.4 Concentration of credit risk

Credit risk represents the accounting loss that would be recognised at the
reporting date if counter parties failed completely to perform as contracted. To
reduce exposure to credit risk, the Company has developed formal approval process
whereby credit limits are applied to customers. The management also continuously
monitors the credit exposure toward the customers and make provisions against
these balances considered doubtful of recovery. Out of total financial assets of
Rs. 1,956 million (2004: 1,133 million), the financial assets which are subject to
credit risk aggregated Rs. 521.00 million (2004:Rs.423.00 million). The Company
believes that it is not exposed to major concentration of credit risk.

37.5 Interest risk management 

Interest rate risk represents the value of a financial instrument which will fluctuate
due to changes in market interest rate. Since the Company borrows most of the
funds at fixed interest rate or interest rate swap contracts are entered into to
hedge any movement in interest rates, the companies exposure to interest rate risk
is minimal.

37.6 Fair values of financial assets and liabilities 

The carrying values of all financial assets and liabilities reflected in the financial
statements approximate to their fair values.

38 NUMBER OF EMPLOYEES 

Number of permanent employees as at December 31, 2005 was 5,605 (2004: 4,513).

39 DIVIDEND

Directors have proposed 15% cash dividend i.e. Rs. 1.5 per ordinary share to be approved
by the shareholders in ensuing Annual General Meeting to be held on 28 april 2006.
Total amount of cash dividend to be paid Rs.130,298,151 which has not been accounted
for as liability in these financial statements.

40 DATE OF AUTHORISATION FOR ISSUE

These financial statements were authorised for issue on 28 march 2006 by the Board
of Directors of the Company.

41 FIGURES 

– Comparative figures have been rearranged, where ever necessary, for the purpose
of comparison. Return on bank deposits which was previously grouped under other
income has now been adjusted against finance cost as a matter of prudence.

– Figures in the accounts have been rounded off nearest to rupee.

Chief Executive Director
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AUDITORS' REPORT TO THE MEMBERS

We have audited the annexed consolidated financial statements comprising consolidated

Balance Sheet of AZGARD NINE LIMITED, the holing company, and its subsidiary companies

as at 31 December 2005 and the related consolidated Profit and Loss Account,

consolidated Cash Flow Statement and consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

together with the notes forming part thereof, for the fifteen months then ended. We

have also expressed separate opinion on the financial statements for the same period

of AZGARD NINE LIMITED. The financial statements of foreign subsidiary Nafees

International Tekstil Sanays Ve Ticaret Anonim Sirket are unaudited for the three months

1st October 2004 to 31 December 2004 whereas for the year ended 31 December 2005

have been audited by another auditor and the financial statements of Pakistani Subsidiary

Azsoft (Pvt) Limited for the period 05 October 2004 to 31 December 2005 have been

audited by another firm of Chartered Accountants, whose reports have been furnished

to us by the management and our opinion, in so far as it relates to the amounts included

for such companies, is based solely on the reports of such other auditors. These financial

statements are the responsibility of the Holding Company’s management. Our responsibility

is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audit.
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AZGARD-9

Our audit was conducted in accordance with the International Standards on Auditing

and accordingly included such tests of accounting records and such other auditing

procedures as we considered necessary in the circumstances.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements subject to any adjustments that

may have been required on audit of the financial statements for the three months of the

foreign subsidiary present fairly the financial position of AZGARD NINE LIMITED and

its subsidiary companies as at 31 December 2005 and the results of their operations

for the period then ended.

The financial statements for the year ended 30 September 2004 were audited by another

firm of Chartered Accountants whose report dated 28 December 2004 expressed a

modified opinion regarding changes in accounting policies.

Lahore Rahman Sarfraz & Co.

March 28, 2006 Chartered Accountants
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CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET
AS AT 31 December 2005

31 December, 30 September
2005 2004

Note Rupees Rupees
EQUITY AND LIABILITIES

SHARE CAPITAL AND RESERVES
Share capital 3 1,737,308,680 1,737,308,680
Reserves 4 403,359,347 362,142,241
Unappropriated profit 953,107,592 412,399,663

3,093,775,619 2,511,850,584

MINORITY INTEREST 1,759,518 2,742,560

SURPLUS ON REVALUATION
OF FIXED ASSETS 5 278,943,671 306,564,511

NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES

LONG TERM FINANCING - Secured 6 2,678,232,532 750,000,000
LIABILITIES AGAINST ASSETS SUBJECT

TO FINANCE LEASE 7 40,173,972 116,503,819

LONG TERM DEPOSITS 8 2,907,643 1,147,729

CURRENT LIABILITIES

Current portion of:
Long term financing - Secured 6 365,437,468 300,000,000
Liabilities against assets subject to finance lease 7 68,343,306 63,081,881

Short term borrowings 9 3,142,402,324 1,492,909,892
Creditors, accrued and other liabilities 10 831,880,184 701,845,741
Provision for taxation 11 79,684,435 64,824,871
Unclaimed dividends 362,062 95,414

CONTINGENCIES AND COMMITMENTS 12 4,488,109,779 2,622,757,799

10,583,902,734 6,311,567,002

The annexed notes form an integral part of these financial statements.

Chief Executive
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AZGARD-9

31 December, 30 September
2005 2004

Note Rupees Rupees
ASSETS

NON-CURRENT ASSETS

OPERATING FIXED ASSETS 13 3,114,554,527 2,847,936,402
CAPITAL WORK IN PROGRESS 14 2,479,903,660 89,759,126

5,594,458,187 2,937,695,528

INTANGIBLE ASSETS 15 73,937,276 88,375,589

LONG TERM INVESTMENTS 16 89,868,842 1,015,576

LONG TERM DEPOSITS 17 29,745,135 18,517,830

CURRENT ASSETS

Stores, spares and loose tools 18 87,790,355 72,608,693
Stock in trade 19 2,035,875,069 1,425,586,819
Trade debts 20 1,034,669,395 924,208,356
Derivative financial instrument 21 13,458,916 –
Advances, deposits, prepayments

and other receivables 22 897,252,727 713,461,070
Current maturity of long term investments 16.2 9,637,121 –
Short term investments 23 670,927,050 109,148,931
Cash and bank balances 24 46,282,661 20,948,610

4,795,893,294 3,265,962,479

10,583,902,734 6,311,567,002

Director
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CONSOLIDATED PROFIT AND LOSS ACCOUNT
For the period of 15 months ended 31 December, 2005

01 October, 04 01 October, 03
to to

31 December, 30 September
2005 2004

Note Rupees Rupees

SALES – Net 25 4,460,828,929 3,160,780,433

COST OF SALES 26 3,322,348,339 2,440,779,273
   

GROSS PROFIT 1,138,480,590 720,001,160

ADMINISTRATIVE AND SELLING EXPENSES 27 327,483,372 186,565,495
   

OPERATING PROFIT 810,997,218 533,435,665

OTHER INCOME 29 305,852,832 9,154,424
   

1,116,850,050 542,590,089
OTHER CHARGES

Finance cost 30 290,509,378 122,998,014
Workers' Profit Participation Fund 10.1 24,509,700 20,803,281
Others 31 11,761,051 111,400

326,780,129 143,912,695

PROFIT BEFORE TAXATION 790,069,921 398,677,394

PROVISION FOR TAXATION 11.1 50,857,877 20,000,000
   

PROFIT AFTER TAXATION 739,212,044 378,677,394

MINORITY INTEREST (985,042) 1,673,378

PROFIT ATTRIBUTABLE TO HOLDING COMPANY 740,197,086 377,004,016

EARNINGS PER SHARE – Basic 32 7.40 4.33
– Diluted 6.46 4.32

The annexed notes form an integral part of these financial statements.

Chief Executive Director
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AZGARD-9

CONSOLIDATED CASH FLOW STATEMENT
For the period of 15 months ended 31 December, 2005

01 October, 04 01 October, 03
to to

31 December, 30 September
2005 2004

Note Rupees Rupees
CASH FLOW FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES

Profit before taxation 790,069,921 398,677,394
Adjustment for:

Depreciation 264,284,035 170,505,791
Amortization of intangible assets 40,530,337 22,964,732
Gain on sale of investments (199,442,372) (1,192,320)
Unrealised gain on investments (35,039,438) (6,951,688)
(Gain)/Loss on disposal of fixed assets 6,661,778 (266,005)
Dividend income (38,934,462) –
Exchange adjustments 27,878 –
Gratuity - net – (25,512,837)
Interest income (17,966,099) (710,367)
Finance cost 308,475,477 123,708,381

328,597,134 282,545,687

Operating profit before working capital changes 1,118,667,055 681,223,081

Changes in working capital 36  (920,807,188) (714,693,989)

Cash flow from operations 197,859,867 (33,470,908)

Finance cost paid (180,351,891) (106,270,614)
Expenses on issuance of company’s securities (34,775,530) (37,241,757)
Long term deposits (11,227,305) (14,868,110)
Long term deposits payable 1,759,914 (5,240,773)
Taxes paid (57,920,459) (25,275,947)

NET CASH OUTFLOW FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES (84,655,404) (222,368,109)

CASH FLOW FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Fixed capital expenditure (2,933,361,297) (775,461,104)

Intangible assets (1,174,441) (111,788,860)
Sale proceeds of fixed assets 5,652,825 1,278,805
Long term investments (98,484,545) (9,544)
Inflow from minority on formation of new subsidiary 2,000 –
Dividend income 38,934,462 –
Interest received 17,966,099 710,367
Short term investments (327,296,309) (101,004,923)

NET CASH USED IN INVESTING ACTIVITIES (3,297,761,206) (986,275,259)

CASH INFLOW FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES  
  Preference shares issued – 868,654,340

Long term financing obtained 2,143,670,000 650,000,000
Repayment of long term loans (150,000,000) (350,000,000)
Dividend paid (164,343,349) (269)
Short term finances– net 1,649,492,432 64,253,791
Finance lease liabilities paid (71,068,422) (24,917,634)

NET CASH IN FLOW FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES 3,407,750,661 1,207,990,228

NET INCREASE/(DECREASE) IN CASH AND
CASH EQUIVALENTS 25,334,051 (653,140)

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
AT THE BEGINNING OF THE PERIOD 20,948,610 21,601,750

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT THE END OF THE PERIOD 46,282,661 20,948,610

The annexed notes form an integral part of these finincial satetements.

Chief Executive Director
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
For the period of 15 months ended 31 December, 2005
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AZGARD-9

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED ACCOUNTS
For the period of 15 months ended 31 December, 2005

1 STATUS AND ACTIVITIES

The Group comprises the following companies and businesses:

Holding Company

Azgard Nine Ltd. was incorporated in Pakistan as a public limited company and its
shares are quoted at Karachi Stock Exchange (Guarantee) Limited. The Company
is a composite spinning, weaving, dyeing and stitching unit engaged in the manufacturing
of yarn, denim and denim products. The registered office of the Company is situated
at Ismail Aiwan-e-Science, Off Shahrah-e-Roomi, Lahore.

Subsidiary Companies

Nafees International Tekstil Sanays Ve Ticaret Anonim Sirket, Representing sale
of Denim and Denim products. The Company was incorporated in Turkey and principal
activity of the Company is sale of Denim and denim products. Proportion of ownership
interest held by holding company is 51 %.

Azsoft (Pvt) Ltd., representing a software business. The Company was incorporated
in Pakistan and principal activity of the Company is development, implementation
and sale of software products and providing related services. Proportion of
ownership interest held by holding company is 99.90 %.

1.1 Change in financial year

The Holding Company has been accorded approval by commissioner of income tax
to adopt calendar year as financial year with effect from January 01, 2006 and
also obtained special permission from SECP to prepare financial statements
exceeding twelve months. As such these financial statements are prepared for
fifteen months and corresponding figures of profit and loss account, cash flow
statement, statement of changes in equity and the related notes are for one year.

2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

2.1 Statement of compliance

These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the approved
accounting standards as applicable in Pakistan and the requirements of Companies
Ordinance, 1984 (the Ordinance). Approved accounting standards comprise of such
International Accounting standards as notified under the provisions of the
Ordinance. Where the requirements of the Ordinance or directives issued by the
Securities and Exchange Commission of Pakistan differ with the requirements of
these standards, the requirements of the Ordinance or the said directives take
precedence.

2.2 Accounting convention

These accounts have been prepared under the historical cost convention except
as stated in notes 2.6, 2.13 and 2.14 relating to certain fixed assets that have
been included at revalued amounts, monetary assets and liabilities in foreign
currencies which have been translated and certain financial instruments which are
stated at fair value.

2.3 Basis of Consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of Azgard Nine Limited
and its subsidiaries, foreign and local.

Subsidiaries are those enterprises in which parent company directly or indirectly
controls, beneficially owns or holds more than 50 percent of the voting securities
or otherwise has power to elect and appoint more than 50% of its directors. The
financial statements of the subsidiaries are included in the consolidated financial
statements from the date control commences until the date that control ceases.
The financial statements of subsidiary companies have been consolidated on a line
by line basis.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED ACCOUNTS
For the period of 15 months ended 31 December, 2005

All inter-company balances, transactions and resulting unrealised profits/losses
have been eliminated.

Minority interests are that part of the net results of the operation and net assets
of the subsidiary attributable to interests which are not owned by the parent
company. Minority interest is presented as a separate item in the consolidated
financial statements.

Corresponding figures in the consolidated financial statements are related to
holding company and its foreign subsidiary because the local subsidiary was acquired
during the period.

2.4 Staff retirement benefits

The Holding Company operated an unfunded gratuity scheme and replaced it with
provident fund last year. Currently the Holding Company operates an approved
defined contributory provident fund for its employees. Equal contributions are
made by employee and the Holding Company @ 8.5 % per month of the basic pay.
Interest is charged @8.25% on the outstanding fund balance and is charged to
Profit and loss account.

2.5 Taxation

Current

Income tax expense represents the sum of current tax payable, and adjustments,
if any, to provision for tax made in prior years arising from assessments completed
during the period for such years.

Deferred

Deferred tax is provided using the liability method on all temporary timing differences
at the balance sheet date between the tax base of assets and liabilities and their
carrying amounts for financial statements' reporting purposes taking into
consideration the implications of taxes payable under presumptive tax regime, if
any.

Deferred tax assets are recognised only to the extent that it is probable that
future taxable profits will be available against which these assets can be utilised.

2.6 Operating fixed assets, depreciation and capital work in progress

Operating fixed assets, except freehold land, are stated at cost or revalued
amounts less accumulated depreciation. Freehold land is stated at revalued amount.

Depreciation is charged to income for the period applying the reducing balance
method. Amount equal to incremental depreciation charged during the period on
revalued amount of assets is transferred from surplus on revaluation of fixed
assets to unappropriated profit/accumulated loss through statement of changes
in equity. The adjustments made in this context and the amounts involved have been
disclosed in note 5 (surplus on revaluation of fixed assets).

The useful life and depreciation method are reviewed periodically to ensure that
the method and period of depreciation are consistent with the expected pattern
of economic benefits from items of fixed assets. Rates of depreciation are stated
in note 13. No depreciation is provided on assets disposed of during the period.
Additions or extensions to production facilities are depreciated from the month
the assets are put in use.

Gain or loss on disposal of operating fixed assets is included in current period
income. Normal maintenance and repairs are charged to current period income as
and when incurred. Major renewals, improvements and replacements are capitalised
and assets so replaced, if not kept as stand by, are retired.

Capital work in progress and stores held for capital expenditure are stated at
cost and represents expenditure incurred on property, plant and equipment during
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AZGARD-9

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED ACCOUNTS
For the period of 15 months ended 31 December, 2005

the construction and installation. Cost also includes applicable borrowing costs.
Transfers are made to relevant property, plant and equipment category as and
when assets are available for use.

2.7 Accounting for finance lease

Leases are classified as finance leases whenever the terms of the lease transfer
substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership to the lessee. The assets
subject to finance lease recognised as assets of the company at lower of present
value of minimum lease payments, each determined at the inception of the lease and
the fair value of the leased assets at the date of acquisition. These are stated
at cost less accumulated depreciation.

Depreciation is charged at the rate specified in note 13, to write off the assets
over the estimated useful life in view of the certainty of the ownership of the
assets at the end of lease period. The corresponding liabilities to the lessor are
included in the balance sheet as liabilities against assets subject to finance lease.
Lease payments are apportioned between finance charges and reduction of the
liabilities against assets subject to finance lease so as to achieve a constant rate
of interest on the remaining balance of the liability. Finance charges are charged
directly against income unless these are directly attributable to qualifying assets,
in which case these are capitalised in accordance with the Holding Company’s
General Policy on borrowing costs.

2.8 Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production
of qualifying assets, which are assets that necessarily take a substantial period
of time to get ready for their intended use or sale, are added to the cost of those
assets until such time as the assets are substantially ready for their intended
use or sale.

All other borrowing costs are recognized as an expense in the period in which
these are incurred.

2.9 Intangible assets

2.9.1 Research and development

Expenditure on research activities is recognised as an expense in the period in which
it is incurred. Costs incurred on development projects (relating to design and
testing of new or improved products) are recognised as intangible assets only if
all of the following conditions are met;

– an asset is created that can be identified
– it is probable that the asset created will generate future economic
  benefits; and
– the development cost of the asset can be measured reliably.

All other development expenditures are recognised as an expense when incurred.
Development costs previously recognised as an expense are not recognised as an
asset in the subsequent period. Development costs that have been capitalized are
amortized from the commencement of the commercial production of the product
on a straight line basis over the period of its expected benefits. The amortization
period adopted does not exceed five years.

2.9.2 Others

Other intangible assets are amortised over the period of their expected benefits.
The amortisation period adopted does not exceed five years.

2.10 Investments

All investments are initially recognized at cost, being fair value of the consideration
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED ACCOUNTS
For the period of 15 months ended 31 December, 2005

given and including acquisition charges associated with investments and classified
as whether held to maturity, held for trading or available for sale.

Subsequent to initial recognition, investments which are classified as held for
trading and available for sale are measured at fair value unless fair value cannot
be measured reliably. Investments held for trading are those which are either
acquired for generating a profit from short term fluctuation in prices or dealer's
margin, or are securities included in a portfolio in which a pattern of short term
profit taking exists. Investments intended to be held for an indefinite period of
time, which may be sold in response to needs for liquidity or change in interest
rates are classified as available for sale. The investments are classified as non
current unless management has intention of holding these for less than twelve
months from the balance sheet date, in which case they are included as current
assets.

Subsequent to initial recognition, investments which are classified as held to
maturity are measured at amortized cost using effective interest method.

Gains and losses on investments held for trading are recognized in income. Gains
and losses on investments available for sale are recognized as separate component
of equity until investments are sold, disposed-off or until the investments are
determined to be impaired, at which time accumulated gain/loss previously reported
in equity is included in profit and loss account.

All purchases and sales of investments are recognized on the trade date, which
is the date that the Group commits to purchase or sell the investments. 

The fair value of publicly traded investment is based on quoted market prices at
the balance sheet date.

2.11 Stores, spares and loose tools
These are valued at cost determined using first in first out (FIFO) method except
items in transit which are valued at cost comprising invoice value plus other charges
paid thereon.

2.12 Stock in trade

Basis of valuation are as follows:

Raw materials
At mills – At lower of first in first out cost and net realisable value
In–transit – At cost accumulated to the balance sheet date
Work in process – At lower of manufacturing cost and net realisable value
Finished goods – At lower of manufacturing cost and net realisable value
Waste – At net realisable value

Average manufacturing cost in relation to work in process and finished goods
includes prime cost and proportion of production overheads.

Net realisable value signifies the estimated selling price in ordinary course of
business less cost necessary to be incurred in order to make the sales.

2.13 Foreign currency translations

Monetary assets and liabilities in foreign currencies are translated into Pak Rupees
at the rates of exchange prevailing at the balance sheet date, except those covered
under forward exchange contracts which are stated at contracted rate. Foreign
currency transactions are translated into Pak Rupees prevailing at the date of
transaction except for those covered by forward contracts, which are translated
at contracted rates. Exchange differences are included in profit and loss account
currently.
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AZGARD-9

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED ACCOUNTS
For the period of 15 months ended 31 December, 2005

2.14 Financial instruments

2.14.1 Financial assets

All financial assets have been stated in accordance with the requirements of
IAS–39 (Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement). Financial assets
are initially recognised at cost which is the fair value of the consideration given
at initial recognition. Subsequent to initial recognition, financial assets are carried
at fair value except any financial assets whose fair value cannot be estimated
reliably.

A 'regular way' purchase or sale of financial assets are recognised using trade
date accounting.

2.14.2 Financial liabilities

All financial liabilities are initially recognised at cost, which is the fair value of
the consideration received at initial recognition. Subsequent to initial recognition
financial liabilities are carried at fair value, amortised cost or cost as the case
may be.

2.14.3 De–recognition

Financial assets are de–recognised when the Group looses control of the
contractual rights that comprise the financial assets.

Financial liabilities are de–recognised when they are extinguished, that is, when
the obligation specified in the contract is discharged, cancelled or expires.

Gain or loss, if any, on de–recognition and settlement of financial assets and
liabilities is included in net profit or loss in the period in which it arises.

2.14.4 Trade debtors

Trade debtors are stated at their nominal value as reduced by appropriate
allowances for estimated irrecoverable amounts, if any.

2.14.5 Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a legal or constructive obligation
as a result of past events and it is probable that an outflow of resources
embodying economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation and a reliable
estimate of the amount can be made.

2.14.6 Off setting

Financial assets and financial liabilities are set–off and the net amount is reported
in the financial statements when there is a legally enforceable right to set off
and the Group intends either to settle on a net basis, or to realise the assets
and to settle the liabilities simultaneously.

2.14.7 Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents consist of cash–in–hand and balances with banks.

2.14.8 Derivative financial instruments

These are initially recorded at cost being the fair value on the date a derivative
contract is entered into and are remeasured to fair value at subsequent reporting
dates. The method of recognising the resulting gain or loss depends on whether
the derivative is designated as a hedging instrument, and if so, the nature of the
item being hedged. The group designates certain derivatives as cash flow hedges.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED ACCOUNTS
For the period of 15 months ended 31 December, 2005

The group documents at the inception of the transaction the relationship between
the hedging instruments and hedged items, as well as its risk management objective
and strategy for undertaking various hedge transactions. The group also documents
its assessment, both at hedge inception and on an ongoing basis, of whether the
derivatives that are used in hedging transactions are highly effective in offsetting
changes in cash flow of hedged items.

The effective portion of changes in the fair value of derivatives that are designated
and qualify as cash flow hedges are recognised in equity. The gain or loss relating
to the ineffective portion is recognised immediately in the profit and loss account.

Amounts accumulated in equity are recognised in profit and loss account in the
periods when the hedged item will effect profit or loss. However, when the forecast
hedged transaction results in the recognition of a non–financial asset or a liability,
the gains and losses previously deferred in equity are transferred from equity and
included in the initial measurement of the cost of the asset or liability.

2.15 Creditors, accrued and other liabilities

Liabilities for trade and other amounts payable are carried at cost which is the
fair value of the consideration to be paid in future for goods and services.

2.16 Dividend

Dividend on ordinary shares is recognised in equity in the period in which it is
declared/paid.

2.17 Revenue recognition

– Revenue from local sales is recognised on dispatch of goods to customers.
– Revenue from export sales is recognised on shipment basis.
– Export rebate is recognised when entitlement is established.
– Dividend income is recognised when the group’s right to receive payment
   is established.

2.18 Government Grants

The group has opted for the method of offsetting the government grant against
the related expenses in accordance with the requirements of IAS 20 accounting
for Government Grants and disclosure of govt assistance by giving a separate
disclosure of nature and extent of government grant in note 28.

2.19 Related party transactions

All transactions involving related parties arising in the normal course of business
are conducted at arm's length using valuation modes, as admissible. Parties are
said to be related when they meet the definition as provided in the Companies
Ordinance, 1984.

2.20 Impairment

The carrying amount of the group’s assets are reviewed at each balance sheet date
to determine whether there is any indication of impairment loss. If any such indication
exists, the assets are written down to their estimated recoverable amount and
impairment losses are recognised in the profit and loss account. Consequently,
the depreciation charge is adjusted in the future period to allocate asset's revised
carrying amount over its estimated useful life.
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AZGARD-9

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED ACCOUNTS
For the period of 15 months ended 31 December, 2005

31 December, 05 30 September, 04
Note Rupees Rupees 

3 SHARE CAPITAL

3.1 Authorised capital

300,000,000 (2004: 300,000,000)
ordinary and preference shares of Rs. 10/- each 3,000,000,000 3,000,000,000

Azgard Nine Ltd. (holding company) introduced a new class of ordinary shares (non-voting)
having no right to receive notice of, attend, or vote at any general meeting except as
otherwise provided in the Ordinance, by passing a special resolution in extra ordinary general
meeting held on May 12, 2005. Authorised capital of the holding company is Rs. 3,000,000,000
divided into 153,000,000 (2004:213,000,000) ordinary shares of Rs.10 each, 60,000,000
(2004: Nil) ordinary shares (non-voting) of Rs.10 each and 87,000,000 (2004 : 87,000,000)
preference shares of Rs.10 each.

Authorised capital of the holding company has been increased to Rs. 15,000,000,000 by
passing of resolution in the extra ordinary general meeting held on March 7, ,2006 divided
into 900,000,000 ordinary shares of Rs.10 each, 300,000,000 ordinary shares (non-voting)
of Rs.10 each and 300,000,000 preference shares of Rs.10 each.

3.2 Issued, subscribed and paid up capital:

23,777,369 Ordinary shares of Rs.10/- each
fully paid in cash 237,773,690 237,773,690 

12,276,073 Issued as consideration for machinery 122,760,730 122,760,730
50,811,992 Issued as consideration for merger 508,119,920 508,119,920

86,865,434 868,654,340 868,654,340 
86,865,434 Preference shares of Rs.10/- each

fully paid in cash                           3.3 868,654,340 868,654,340

173,730,868 1,737,308,680 1,737,308,680 

 
3.3 The holding company issued cumulative preference shares during the preceding year. These are

non-voting, non-participatory, partly convertible and are redeemable in 6 years from the date
of issuance. These are listed on Karachi Stock Exchange (Guarantee) Limited. The terms and
conditions of issue are as follows:

Rate of dividend

Annualised fixed dividend
@ 8.95% per annum to be paid.
In case of default in payment of dividend:

default in payment during first year and Rate of dividend will be 9.75 % for first year,
paid regularly during subsequent years. total dividend for the year will be Rs.1.87 
 per share including 8.95% for second year.

default in payment during second year and Rate of dividend will be 20.73 % for second year,
paid regularly during subsequent years. total dividend for the year will be Rs. 2.93 per

share including 8.95% for third year.

default in payment during third year and paid Rate of dividend will be 31.95 % for third year,
regularly during subsequent years. total dividend for the year will be Rs. 4.09

per share including 8.95% for fourth year.

default in payment during fourth year and Rate of dividend will be 44.56 % for fourth year,
paid regularly during subsequent years. total dividend for the year will be Rs. 5.35 per

share including 8.95% for fifth year.

default in payment during fifth year and Rate of dividend will be 58.30 % for fifth year,
paid regularly during subsequent years. total dividend for the year will be Rs. 6.73 per

share including 8.95% for sixth year.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED ACCOUNTS
For the period of 15 months ended 31 December, 2005

At the end of year six, if the Holding Company fails to pay dividend and/or redeem the principal in
the manner mentioned below, the entire amount of the accrued dividend plus the face value of the
outstanding preference share will be converted, at the option of preference shareholder, into
ordinary shares at break–up value of the Holding Company to be determined at that time.

Redemption option and timing

Redemption will be allowed as follows subject to the provisions of Section 85 of the Companies
Ordinance, 1984, as follows:

50% of the issued amount at the end of fifth (5th) year of issuance/allotment;

50% of the issued amount at the end of sixth (6th) year of issuance/allotment;

Conversion/ Swap

The preference shareholders may at their option convert up to 25% of the value of their respective
preference shares into ordinary shares between eighteen and forty two months from the issue/
allotment at the conversion ratio of ten preference shares for 6.8 ordinary shares. Preference
share–holders exercising their right of conversion will not receive any of remaining fixed coupon
amounts on the converted amount.

Redemption reserve

The Holding Company will create a redemption reserves of at least up to the amount of redemption
of preference shares i.e. at least up to the amount of outstanding preference shares submitted
for redemption by:

– Allocating Rs.150 million of the reserves as at 30th September, 2004;

– Appropriating profits of at least Rs 50 million each subsequent year to build up redemption
reserve;

– Creating additional reserves to match the amount required for redemption.

3.4 As a condition of approval of the scheme of arrangement, the Holding Company
had given an undertaking to the Securities & Exchange Commission of Pakistan to
pay dividends of 25% over a period of three years before September 30, 2005.
which has been duly met for.

31 December, 05 30 September, 04
 Rupees Rupees 

4 RESERVES

Capital Reserves 
Share premium on ordinary shares 71,657,838 106,433,368
Preference shares redemption reserve 212,500,000 150,000,000
Reserve on merger 105,152,005 105,152,005

389,309,843 361,585,373

Surplus on revaluation of investments 562,710 556,868
Hedging reserve

At the beginning of the year – –
Increase in the fair value of cash flow
hedging derivatives 13,458,916 –

13,458,916 –

Exchange Differences on translation
of foreign subsidiary 27,878 –

403,359,347 362,142,241
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AZGARD-9

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED ACCOUNTS
For the period of 15 months ended 31 December, 2005

31 December, 05 30 September, 04
 Note Rupees Rupees 

5 SURPLUS ON REVALUATION OF FIXED ASSETS 

Opening balance 306,564,511 414,123,474
Surplus transferred to unappropriated profit: 

relating to incremental depreciation and disposal:
– Prior years –  83,873,950
– Current period 27,392,552 23,685,013
– Disposal of revalued fixed assets 228,288 –

27,620,840 107,558,963

278,943,671 306,564,511

The Holding Company revalued land, building and plant and machinery during 1999
and 2002 which produced revaluation surplus of Rs. 253.29 million and Rs. 160.83
million respectively. The total surplus of Rs. 414.123 million had been added to the
book value of the assets and the corresponding amount had been credited to the
surplus on revaluation of fixed assets.

6. Long term financing – Secured 
Banking Companies

Habib Bank Limited (HBL) 6.1 250,000,000 400,000,000
United Bank Limited (UBL) 6.2 200,000,000 200,000,000
Citi Bank N.A 6.3 200,000,000 200,000,000

Others
Privately Placed TFC's 6.4 250,000,000 250,000,000
Term Finance Certificates (TFCs) 6.5 2,143,670,000 –

3,043,670,000 1,050,000,000
Less: Current maturity grouped under
current liabilities (365,437,468) (300,000,000)

2,678,232,532 750,000,000 

6.1 The Holding Company obtained this finance from consortium of banks lead by HBL
which is repayable in 10 equal half yearly installments commencing from December,
2003.

The finance carries mark-up based on 6 months offer rate of KIBOR + 280 BPS
with no floor no cap. It is secured by way of first pari passu charge on the project
through an equitable mortgage on land and building and hypothecation of plant
and machinery and personal guarantees of some of the directors of the Group.

6.2 The Holding Company obtained a bridge finance facility of Rs. 250 million from UBL
against which the bank disbursed Rs. 200 million up to September 30, 2004. It was
repayable within two months from the date of disbursement. However the Holding
Company entered into an agreement with the bank for conversion of this facility
into a term finance for a period of 5 years. The Holding Company sold its assets
for a consideration of Rs.200 million and purchased back for a consideration of
Rs. 309.269 million. The finance is repayable in 8 equal semi annual installments
commencing from December 2006 with mar-up being payable on quarterly basis
commencing September 2005.

The facility carries mark-up at the rate of KIBOR at the beginning of each calendar
quarter plus 1.75%. If the Holding Company fails to make payments on due dates
mark-up is payable at the rate of 20% for the period of default.

The facility is secured against 1st pari passu charge on assets, personal guarantees
and demand promissory notes.

6.3 The Holding Company has executed an agreement with Citi Bank for sale of assets
at Rs. 200 million and purchase back the same at a purchase price of Rs. 322.792
Million. The loan is repayable in 6 equal half yearly installments commencing from
February 2006.

This facility carries mark-up @ 8% per annum. Mark-up @ 22% per annum is chargeable,
if the Holding Company fails to make payment on due date. It is secured by way of
hypothecation and/or hypothecation over the present and future fixed assets of
the Group and demand promissory notes.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED ACCOUNTS
For the period of 15 months ended 31 December, 2005

6.4 TFCs have been issued by way of private placements with a consortium of institutional
investors. The total issue comprises of 250 TFCs having face vale of Rs. 100,000
and 45,000 TFCs having face value of Rs. 5,000.

Terms of repayment
Call option/ Partial call option
The Holding Company may redeem the TFCs by way of exercise of the call/partial
call option by giving written notice to the TFC holders and the trustee of not less
than ninety days. In case of exercise of call/partial call option within thirty months
from the issue date, the Holding Company is liable to pay premium @ 0.1% of the
call/partial redemption amount.

Rate of return
The return on TFCs is payable semi annually. This is calculated at six months KIBOR
prevailing two days prior to the issue date and subsequently two days prior to
start of each semi annual period in respect of which profit payment due at the end
of that period plus margin of 1.75%.

Trustee
In order to protect the interests of TFC holders, NIB Bank Limited has been
appointed as trustee under a trust deed dated 2nd August, 2004.

In case the holding company defaults in any of its obligations, the trustee may
enforce the holding company obligation in accordance with the terms of the trust
deed. The proceed of any such enforcement shall be distributed to the TFC holders
at the time on a pari passu basis in proportion to the amounts owed to them pursuant
to the TFCs. 

Security

This finance is secured by first pari passu charge over present and future fixed
assets excluding immovable property and mortgage of immovable properties.

6.5 These have been issued by way of private placement and public subscription and are
listed on the Karachi Stock Exchange. Total issue comprises of 428,734 certificates
of Rs. 5,000 each.

Terms of repayment
The principal redemption of TFC’s are structured to be in ten unequal semi-annual
instalment starting from March 2008.

Profit rate and payment
6 month KIBOR plus 240 basis points, without any floor or cap and is payable semi-
annually in arrears.

Conversion option
TFC holders will have the right of conversion of 25 % of the value into ordinary
(non-voting) shares, rounded off to the nearest whole number, at a 30 % discount
to the preceding three months average share price of ordinary shares prevailing
at the time of conversion, at any time between January 01, 2008 to March 31,
2008 after giving 30 days advance notice to the issuer and trustee. Incase of
existent established market for the Holding Company ordinary (non voting) shares
at the time of conversion, TFC holders will have the right for conversion into
ordinary (non voting) shares, rounded off to the nearest whole number, at a 15
% discount to the preceding three months average share price of ordinary share
(non-voting).

SecuritY
First pari passu charge on the present and future fixed assets of the Holding
Company (excluding land and building) with 25 % margin in favour of the trustee.

Trustee
In order to safe-guard the interest of the TFC holders, First Dawood Investment
Bank Ltd. has been appointed to as Trustee for the issue,

In case the holding company defaults in any of its obligations, the trustee may
enforce the holding company obligation in accordance with the terms of the trust
deed. The proceed of any such enforcement shall be distributed to the TFC holders
at the time on a pari passu basis in proportion to the amounts owed to them pursuant
to the TFCs, subject to the priority rights of all other creditors and depositors
of the holding company.
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AZGARD-9

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED ACCOUNTS
For the period of 15 months ended 31 December, 2005

31 December, 05 30 September, 04
Note Rupees Rupees

7 LIABILITIES AGAINST ASSETS SUBJECT

   TO FINANCE LEASE - Secured

Gross minimum lease payments
Not later than one year 81,542,809 76,494,987
Later than one year but not later than five years 48,714,073 146,218,007

130,256,882 222,712,994
Less: Financial charges allocated to future periods 10,097,006 26,050,646

120,159,876 196,662,348

Less: Security deposits adjustable on expiry of
lease terms 11,642,598 17,076,648

108,517,278 179,585,700

Less: Current maturity Grouped under
current liabilities 68,343,306 63,081,881

40,173,972 116,503,819

Present value of minimum lease payments

Not later than one year 68,343,306 63,081,881
Later than one year but not later than five years 40,173,972 116,503,819

108,517,278 179,585,700

The Holding Company has acquired plant and machinery and vehicles from various
Leasing Companies. Rentals are payable in monthly/quarterly installments upto
November, 2008. The discount factors applied range between 5.50% to 16.50% per
annum. The Holding Company intends to exercise its option to purchase the leased
assets upon payment of liability over the lease term and surrender of deposit at the
end of lease term. Taxes, repairs and insurance costs are to be borne by lessee. In
case of termination of the agreement, the lessee is to pay the entire rent of un-
expired period. These are secured against demand promissory notes.

8 LONG TERM DEPOSITS - Unsecured

This represents interest free deposits received from Holding Company’s employees
under the car scheme. Vehicles have been provided to the employees against these
deposits. These are adjustable after specified periods by transfer of vehicle to the
respective employee.

9 SHORT TERM BORROWINGS 

Short term finances - secured 9.1 2,395,697,717 1,414,826,753 
Short term running finances - secured 9.2 702,820,703 67,756,639 
Temporary over draft - Unsecured 9.3 43,883,904 10,326,500

3,142,402,324 1,492,909,892 

9.1 These represent short-term financing facilities available from various banks
amounting to Rs.4,380.29 million (2004: Rs.3,116.08 million) including US $ 15.83
million (2004: US $ 10.5 million). These facilities carries mark-up at the rates
ranging between Re. 0.06 to Re. 0.19 per Rs. 1,000 per day.

L/C limits available for opening letters of credit/guarantee aggregate Rs. 2,369.48
million (2004: Rs. 1,040.25 million) of which the amount remaining un-utilised at
the year end was Rs.1,586.81 million (2004: Rs. 510.38 million) .

These finances are secured by 1st pari passu charge over current assets,
hypothecation of stocks of raw materials, work-in-process and finished goods,
pledge of raw materials, goods imported through banks, export bills drawn under
confirmed L/C's or contracts, lien on documents of the title of goods and personal
guarantees of some of the directors of the Holding Company.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED ACCOUNTS
For the period of 15 months ended 31 December, 2005

These include foreign currency loan of U.S.$ 4.13 million (2004: US $ 6.99 million)
which have been converted into Pak Rupees at the exchange rate prevailing on the
balance sheet date i.e. U.S. $1 = Rs. 59.93 (2004: U.S.$ 1= Rs. 59.37).

The facilities are generally available for a period of twelve months and are
renewable on expiry, however, purchase prices are repayable on various dates,
latest by December 31, 2006.

9.2 Short term running finance facilities available from various banks under mark up
arrangements amount to Rs.912.50 million (2004:Rs.762.50 Million).

9.3 It represents cheques issued by the Holding Company in excess of balance at banks
which have been presented for payment in the subsequent period.

9.4 Finances under mark up arrangements include Rs.198 million (2004: Rs.58.78
million ) obtained in normal course of business at arm's length from Union Bank
Ltd, a related party.

31 December, 05 30 September, 04
Rupees Rupees

10. CREDITORS, ACCRUED AND OTHER LIABILITIES

Creditors 134,896,010 203,988,450
Bills payable – Secured 394,601,913 316,801,324
Accrued liabilities 76,516,977 54,947,816
Workers' Welfare Fund 20,000 20,000
Advances from customers 15,089,698 59,877,980

Mark–up accrued on:
Long term finances including TFCs 96,071,732 –
Short term borrowings 58,717,720 26,687,284
Lease finance charges 1,414,929 1,393,512

Worker's Profit Participation Fund 10.1 24,509,700 20,803,281
Customs duty, surcharge – 800,301
Tax deducted at source 15,470,450 9,064,521 
Other liabilities 14,571,055 7,461,272

831,880,184 701,845,741
10.1 Workers' Profit Participation Fund

Opening balance 20,803,281 13,075,810
Add: Interest on funds utilised by the Company 326,582 818,980

21,129,863 13,894,790

Less: Payments made during the period 21,127,936 13,894,247
Deposited in government treasury 1,927 543

21,129,863 13,894,790

– –

Add: Contribution for the period 24,509,700 20,803,281

24,509,700 20,803,281
11 PROVISION FOR TAXATION

11.1 Current
Opening balance 64,824,871 44,824,871
Add: Provision made during the period

– Current period 47,858,304 20,000,000
– Prior years 2,999,573 –

50,857,877 20,000,000

115,682,748 64,824,871

Less: Adjusted against completed assessments 35,998,313 –

79,684,435 64,824,871

11.2 Current status of pending tax assessments

11.2.1 Income tax assessments of Azgard Nine Limited have been completed up to tax
year 2005. The Holding Company’s appeals for assessment years 1996–1997,
1998–1999, 1999–2000, 2000–2001 & 2001–2002 before the Lahore High
Court are pending for adjudication and assessment year 2002–03 is pending
before CIT (appeal).
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AZGARD-9

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED ACCOUNTS
For the period of 15 months ended 31 December, 2005

11.2.2 The Holding Company has filed appeals pertaining to cases of Nafees Cotton
Mills (now merged into Holding Company) before the Income Tax Appellate Tribunal
for the assessment years 1999–2000, 2000–2001, 2001–2002, 2002–2003
which are pending for adjudication. The Holding Company has also filed appeal
before the Commissioner of Income Tax (Appeals) for the Tax Year 2003, which
is pending for adjudication.

11.2.3 Provision for current period taxation represents tax payable under section 154
of the Income Tax Ordinance, 2001 (the Ordinance), keeping in view the provisions
of Circular No.5 of 2000 read with rule 216 of Income Tax Rules 1982 for
export sales.

11.3 Deferred Tax 
The export sales (including indirect exports) during the period ended December
31, 2005 achieved the threshold of presumptive tax and the trend is expected
to continue in foreseeable future. Accordingly, no provision for deferred tax
has been made.

11.4 Since the Company’s profits are subject to taxation under presumptive tax regime,
no numerical reconciliation of the tax rate has been given.

12 CONTINGENCIES AND COMMITMENTS

CONTINGENCIES

12.1 The Holding Company was denied exemption by the customs department under SRO
484(I)/92 from levy of customs duty and sales tax on certain plant and machinery.
The Holding Company filed an appeal in the High Court, which was decided in its
favour. The department has filed an appeal against the same in the supreme court.
In case of adverse decision the maximum liability is likely to rise to Rs.9.40 million
approximately. No provision has been made in these accounts since the Holding
Company expects a favourable outcome.

12.2 The Holding Company filed a constitutional petition in the Sindh High Court against
the Customs Authorities. The case had been referred back to the Collector of
Customs through Central Board of Revenue and is still pending. The disputed
amount of Rs.1,293,061 has already been deposited with the Sindh High Court
hence no additional liability is expected to arise.

12.3 The Holding Company imported textile machinery availing exemption from customs
duty and sales tax on importation thereof under various SROs. The claim subject
to fulfilment of certain conditions aggregates Rs.68.156 million (2004: Rs. 68.156
million).

12.4 The Holding Company has filed an appeal before the Lahore High Court for recovery
of its claim from the Insurance Companies amounting to Rs.2.46 million (2004: Rs.
2.46 million). The appeal is pending for adjudication.

12.5 Refer contents of note 3.3 & 3.4 regarding dividend.

COMMITMENTS

12.6 Counter guarantees given by the Holding Company to its bankers outstanding as
at 31 December, 2005 were for Rs. 24.00 million (2004: Rs. 0.102 million).

12.7 Commitments against irrevocable letters of credit outstanding as at 31st December,
2005 amount to Rs.126.89 million (2004:Rs.300 million).

12.8 The Holding Company during the period entered into a financing agreement to the
tune of Euro 15 million with Deutsche Investitions-Und MBH a financial institution
incorporated under the laws of Germany. The loan will be exclusively used to
finance the installation of new spinning, denim and garment projects. The first
disbursement of the loan has been received subsequent to the balance sheet date.
The loan is repayable in 10 equal half yearly installments commencing August 15,
2008. The facility carries interest at six months EURIBOR rate plus 3.25% per
annum. In case of delayed payment 2% additional interest will be payable for the
period of default.

This loan is secured by first pari passu charge over land, buildings and all movable
assets, and promissory note.

12.9 The Holding Company during the period entered into an agreement with M/s Ali
Murtaza Associates (Pvt.) Ltd. for the purchase of a Garment Stitching Unit located
at Ferozepur Road Lahore at purchase price of Rs.530 million against which 10%
advance payment has been made as per agreement which has been Grouped under
Capital Work In Progress, Rs.347 million will be paid on execution of sale deed
and the balance will be paid within one year of execution of sale deed and delivery
of possession of the property.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED ACCOUNTS
For the period of 15 months ended 31 December, 2005

Cost / Revaluation Depreciation           Net Book
Particulars As at Additions Leased As at Rate As at For On to Value as at

30 September, during the assets Disposals 31 December, % 30 September, the disposals/ 31 December, 31 December,
2004 period transfers 2005  2004 period transfers 2005 2005

Owned:
Freehold land
– Cost 337,637,648 23,374,593 – – 361,012,241 – – – – – 361,012,241
– Revaluation 8,442,352 – – – 8,442,352 – – – – – 8,442,352

346,080,000 23,374,593 – – 369,454,593 – – – – – 369,454,593
Buildings on 
freehold land
– Cost 313,393,182 76,827,978 – – 390,221,160 5.0 88,930,334 18,633,575 – 107,563,909 282,657,251
– Revaluation 19,455,864 – – – 19,455,864 5.0 2,335,920 1,069,996 – 3,405,916 16,049,948

332,849,046 76,827,978 – – 409,677,024 91,266,254 19,703,571 – 110,969,825 298,707,199
Plant and machinery
– Cost 2,423,842,646 376,853,599 46,486,925 17,971,277 2,829,211,893 7.5 775,914,849 177,399,812 (9,040,434) 953,387,168 1,875,824,725

  9,112,941  
– Revaluation 386,225,258 – – 313,772 385,911,486 7.5 105,223,043 26,322,556 (85,484) 131,460,115 254,451,371

2,810,067,904 376,853,599 46,486,925 18,285,049 3,215,123,379 881,137,892 203,722,368 (12,977) 1,084,847,283 2,130,276,096

Furniture and fittings 12,559,256 10,890,323 – – 23,449,579 10.0 5,594,515 2,242,049 – 7,836,564 15,613,015
Vehicles 21,348,845 1,379,565 7,058,360 5,296,930 24,489,840 20.0 14,051,806 2,438,290 (2,141,458) 17,174,971 7,314,869

2,826,333 
Tools and equipment 6,414,208 4,756,781 – – 11,170,989 10.0 3,507,445 957,943 – 4,465,388 6,705,601
Office equipments 39,923,367 31,919,387 – – 71,842,754 10.0 10,210,920 7,714,110 – 17,925,030 53,917,724
Electrical installations 59,799,469 16,311,238 – – 76,110,707 10.0 17,433,099 7,347,429 – 24,780,528 51,330,179

–

3,629,042,095 542,313,464 53,545,285 23,581,979 4,201,318,865 1,023,201,931 244,125,760 671,898 1,267,999,589 2,933,319,276

Leased:
Plant and machinery 266,252,068 – (46,486,925) – 219,765,143 7.5 35,661,410 18,114,062 (9,112,941) 44,662,531 175,102,612
Vehicles 18,506,559 903,300 (7,058,360) – 12,351,499 20.0 7,000,980 2,044,213 (2,826,333) 6,218,860 6,132,639

284,758,627 903,300 (53,545,285) – 232,116,642 42,662,390 20,158,275 (11,939,274) 50,881,391 181,235,251

2005 Rupees 3,913,800,722 543,216,764 – 23,581,979 4,433,435,507   1,065,864,321 264,284,035 (11,267,376) 1,318,880,980 3,114,554,527

2004 Rupees 2,835,124,658 775,515,435 – 1,690,500 3,608,949,593   583,786,667 177,904,224 (677,700) 761,013,191 2,847,936,402

13.1 Land, building and plant and machinery have been revalued in 2002 by an independent valuer M/s. Blue Feathers affiliations. These assets were revalued on the basis of present replacement depreciated values.

13.2 Disposal of operating fixed assets.

              Particulars Cost Accumulated Book value Sale Gain Mode of  Particulars of purchaser  
  depreciation proceeds disposal    

Vehicles

Cultus 655,000 235,800 419,200 568,598 149,398 Company's car scheme Mr. Ahsan Riaz Khan
Cultus 669,000 326,472 342,528 474,806 132,278 Company's car scheme Mr. Ahmad Imran
Toyota Corolla 1,379,580 496,649 882,931 941,323 58,392 Company's car scheme Mr. Aamir Usman
Toyota Corolla 1,368,580 492,689 875,891 940,924 65,033 Company's car scheme Mr. Muhammad Hussain
Honda Civic 1,224,770 589,848 634,922 634,922 – Company's car scheme Mr. Irfan Nazir

Machinery

06 Ring Frames 5,307,360 4,058,844 1,248,516 840,000 (408,516) Negotiation Intn'l Textile Machinery Enterprises, Karachi
Washing Machines 4,323,231 1,371,627 2,951,604 961,435 (1,990,169) Negotiation Master Ijaz & Master Khalil
Stitching Machines 8,654,458 3,695,447 4,959,011 290,817 (4,668,194) Negotiation Bravo International

Rupees 23,581,979 11,267,376 12,314,603 5,652,825 (6,661,778)

13.3 Depreciation for the period has been apportioned as under: 2005 2004
Rupees Rupees 

Cost of sales 253,998,842 164,167,467 
Administrative and selling expenses 10,285,193 6,338,324 
Capitalised during the period –  7,398,433 

264,284,035 177,904,224 

13.4 Figures of both the cost of fixed assets and related accumulated depreciation have been increased by the amount of Rs.304,851,129 which represents balance of accumulated depreciation of Nafees Cotton
Mills Ltd. at the time of merger as at 31 March, 2002 which was adjusted against cost at that time. These arrangement of figures have no affect on the amount of depreciation calculated for current period
and previous years.

13.5 Figures of tools & equipment and office equipment are re-classified in the current period having no current or retrospective affect on the amount of depreciation.

13. OPERATING FIXED ASSETS
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AZGARD-9

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED ACCOUNTS
For the period of 15 months ended 31 december, 2005

31 December, 05 30 September, 04
Note Rupees Rupees

14 CAPITAL WORK IN PROGRESS

Buildings on freehold land
– Cost and expenses 334,658,520 –
– Advance payments 153,915,717 27,527,485

488,574,237 27,527,485
Plant and machinery
– Cost and expenses 14.2 1,975,292,610 62,231,641
Electric installation 15,920,713 –

Office equipment and fittings 116,100 –

2,479,903,660 89,759,126

14.1 It includes net exchange difference of Rs.35,002 arising on the translation of
financial statements of foreign subsidiary.

14.2 This includes purchase price, import duties and the cost directly attributable to
bringing the assets to the condition of operating in the manner intended by the
management. The break up is as follows:

– Purchase price including import duties 1,699,063,205
– Borrowing cost 92,169,262

– Other attributable costs

Raw material consumed 196,287,304
Salaries, wages and other benefits 81,523,102
Power and fuel 36,750,368
Stores consumed 27,040,824
Other Costs 20,500,102
Proceeds from samples sold (144,322,226)
Realisable value of closing finished goods (23,446,575)
Realisable value of closing Work in Process (10,272,756)

184,060,143

1,975,292,610

15 INTANGIBLE ASSETS

Development costs 15.1 64,221,974 81,187,908
Textile quota 15.2 – –

64,221,974 81,187,908
ERP – Oracle financial 15.3 9,715,302 7,187,681

73,937,276 88,375,589

15.1 This relates to expenditure on development of new products to gain competitive
advantage in the national and international market. The management plans to
continue this policy and increase research and development spending in the times
to come.

Opening balance 81,187,908 –
Cost incurred during the period – 81,187,908

81,187,908 –
Less: Amortisation 16,965,934 –

64,221,974 81,187,908 

15.2 Textile quota
Opening balance 24,917,583 24,469,044
Purchases/sales during the period (1,353,180) 23,413,271

23,564,403 47,882,315 
Less: Amortisation of textile quota 23,564,403 22,964,732

– 24,917,583
Less: Current portion Grouped
under current assets – 24,917,583 

– –

15.3 This represents cost relating to implementation of oracle financial, which is under
process as at balance sheet date.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED ACCOUNTS
For the period of 15 months ended 31 december, 2005

31 December, 05 30 September, 04
Note Rupees Rupees

16 LONG TERM INVESTMENTS

16.1 Available for Sale

Quoted

Colony Textile Mills Ltd.
456 (2004: 456) ordinary shares
of Rs.10 each 8,664 8,664 
Appreciation/Diminution in value of investment 2,736 (456)
Market value Rs. 25 per share
(2004: Rs. 18) 11,400 8,208 

BSJS Balanced Fund Ltd.      

1,000 ordinary shares of Rs. 10 each.  10,000 10,000
Appreciation in value of investment  3,250 600 
Market value Rs. 13.25 per share

 (2004: Rs. 10.60) 13,250 10,600 

Unquoted

National Security Insurance Co. Ltd.

221,504 (2004:221,504) ordinary
shares of Rs.10 each 996,768 996,768

- 

16.2 Held to maturity (Term
Finance Certificates):
Chanda Oil & Gas
Securitization Co. Ltd

12,895 scrips of Rs.5,000 each 16.2.1 61,638,100 –
Current maturity grouped
under current assets (4,255,350) –

57,382,750

Niamat Basal Oil

3,913 scrips of Rs.5,000 each 16.2.2 18,275,160 –
Current maturity grouped
under current assets (4,217,118) –

14,058,042

Telecard Limited - TFC

3,715 scrips of Rs.5,000 each 16.2.3 18,571,285 –
Current maturity grouped under
current assets (1,164,653)

17,406,632 –

89,868,842 1,015,576 

16.2.1 These TFC's are redeemable in 7 years starting from six months after the date of
closing of subscription date and thereafter quarterly. It carries interest payable
quarterly at base rate plus 3.25% where base rate is a simple average of the last
7 days of ask side of three months daily average KIBOR rates with a floor of 8.95%
and cap of 13.0% per annum. These scrips are pledged as security against various
finance facilities.

16.2.2 These TFC's are redeemable by monthly installments in five years. It carries interest
at base rate plus 2.5% where base rate is average of the six month daily average
rate calculated on KIBOR on the last working day prior to start of each monthly
period for which profit due with a floor of 7.5% and cap of 13.0% per annum. These
scrips are pledged as security against various finance facilities.

16.2.3 These TFC's are redeemable in 6 years by semi-annual installments. It carries interest
at 3.75% plus Base rate where base rate is simple average of the six month KIBOR
on the first working day of the start of each semiannual period for profit due.
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AZGARD-9

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED ACCOUNTS
For the period of 15 months ended 31 december, 2005

31 December, 05 30 September, 04
Note Rupees Rupees

17 LONG TERM DEPOSITS
Opening balance 18,517,830 3,649,720
Cost incurred during the period 11,227,305 14,868,110

29,745,135 18,517,830

29,745,135 18,517,830

These include security deposits for electricity Rs. 5,327,400/- and with Sui Northern Gas
Pipe Lines Ltd. Rs. 15,265,300/-.

18 STORES, SPARES AND LOOSE TOOLS 

Store 60,280,813 50,503,425
Spares 27,069,375 21,443,068
Loose tools 440,167 662,200

87,790,355 72,608,693 

18.1 Included in stores and spares are items in transit valuing Rs. 0.662 million (2004:
Rs.0.750 million).

18.2 The Company does not hold any stores and spares for specific capitalisation. 

19 STOCK IN TRADE 

Raw materials 1,507,912,595 636,338,989
Work in process 227,469,465 220,379,606
work in process - trial run 10,272,756 –
Finished goods 266,597,655 568,745,505
Finished goods - Trial Run 23,446,575 –
Waste 176,023 122,719

2,035,875,069 1,425,586,819 

19.1 Included in raw materials are stocks in transit valuing Rs. 62.030 million (2004:Rs.75
million) and stocks in Customs Bond Rs.7.293 million (2004:Rs.Nil).

19.2 Stocks amounting to Rs.1,044.249 million (2004: 160.146 million) have been
pledged as security with various banks against financing facilities.

19.3 Trial run stocks are valued at NRV.

20 TRADE DEBTS

Considered good:
Secured 20.1 519,678,402 610,600,400
Un-secured 514,990,993 313,607,956
Considered doubtful 4,249,348 4,249,348

1,038,918,743 928,457,704
Less: Provision for doubtful debts (4,249,348) (4,249,348)

1,034,669,395 924,208,356

20.1 These are secured by letter of credit.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED ACCOUNTS
For the period of 15 months ended 31 December, 2005

21 DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

The Holding Company during the current financial period has entered into local and
foreign currency interest rate swap contract to hedge the possible adverse movements
in interest rates arising on foreign currency payments as well as unstable market pricing.
As the hedging relationship is effective & meets the criteria of cash flow hedge, this
arrangement qualifies for hedge accounting as per specification IAS-39 Financial Instruments:
Recognition and Measurement.

The increase in fair value of interest rate swap results in gain amounting Rs. 13.459
million which has been recognised in the statement of changes in equity as hedging reserve.

31 December, 05 30 September, 04
Note Rupees Rupees

22 ADVANCES, DEPOSITS, PREPAYMENTS
AND OTHER RECEIVABLES 

Advances - Unsecured considered good
To employees 22.1 & 22.2 31,059,330 19,357,526
To suppliers, contractors
and others 407,631,218 158,543,173

Security deposit 3,115,165 9,314,906
Margin deposits 22.3 2,297,956 201,562,598
Prepayments 10,064,786 9,411,351
Export rebate receivable incl. SBP 6% 56,947,188 26,624,906
Sales tax recoverable 81,783,885 141,957,831
Textile quota – 24,917,583
Letters of credit 175,710,254 26,571,132
Tax deducted at source / tax refundable 107,828,533 85,906,387
Octroi refundable – 2,778,781
Insurance claim 12.4 14,462,187 2,462,187
Other receivables - Unsecured,
considered good 6,352,225 4,052,709

897,252,727 713,461,070

22.1 Advances to employees are against purchase and other expenses on Holding
Company’s behalf.

22.2 No advances have been given to chief executive / directors during the period.

22.3 It represents deposits against letters of credit and other working capital utilised.
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AZGARD-9

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED ACCOUNTS
For the period of 15 months ended 31 december, 2005

31 December, 05 30 September, 04
Rupees Rupees

23 SHORT TERM INVESTMENTS

Held for trading
Quoted

Bank of Punjab
13,000 (2004: 3,895,100 )
ordinary shares of Rs.10 each 1,358,399 29,355,786

Diminution/Appreciation in value of investment (26,549) 995,875
Market value Rs.102.45 per share
(2004: Rs 66.27) 1,331,850 30,351,661

National Bank of Pakistan
160,100 (2004: 400,000) ordinary
shares of Rs.10 each 32,242,667 29,152,758

Diminution/Appreciation in value of investment (310,722) 849,662
Market value Rs.199.45 per share
(2004: Rs 69.13) 31,931,945 30,002,420

Pakistan Telecommunication Co. Ltd
1,111,500 ordinary shares of Rs. 10 each – 43,688,699

Appreciation in value of investment
Market value Rs.Nil per share – 5,106,151

(2004: Rs 43.90) – 48,794,850
Muslim Commercial Bank Ltd.

30,000 ordinary shares of Rs.10 each 5,428,051 – 

Diminution in value of investment (394,051) – 

Market value Rs.167.80 per share 5,034,000 –

ABAMCO Capital Fund
4,897,000 ordinary shares of Rs.10.10 each 39,910,550 –

Appreciation in value of investment 26,198,950 –

Market value Rs.13.50 per share 66,109,500 –

Askari Commercial Bank Limited
189,500 ordinary shares of Rs.10 each 24,089,087 –
Equity held 0.126% 

Diminution in value of investment (60,487) –

Market value Rs.126.80 per share 24,028,600 –

Fauji Fertilizers Ltd.
65,100 ordinary shares of Rs.10 each 8,260,593 –

Appreciation in value of investment 658,107 –

Market value Rs.137 per share 8,918,700 –
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED ACCOUNTS
For the period of 15 months ended 31 december, 2005

31 December, 05 30 September, 04
Note Rupees Rupees

Attock Refinery Limited
46,000 ordinary shares of Rs.10 each 8,054,170 –

Appreciation in value of investment 1,513,830 –

Market value Rs.208.00 per share 9,568,000 –

Faysal Bank Ltd
540,525 ordinary shares of Rs.10 each 35,425,806 –

 
Appreciation in value of investment 4,627,097 –

Market value Rs.74.10 per share 40,052,903 –

Adamjee Insurance Co. Ltd.
183,800 ordinary shares of Rs.10 each 22,375,803 –

Appreciation in value of investment 2,804,797 –

Market value Rs 137 per share 25,180,600 –

Lucky Cement
20,000 ordinary shares of Rs.10 each  1,584,958 –

Appreciation in value of investment 93,042 –

Market value Rs.83.90 per share 1,678,000 –

Pakistan State Oil Company Ltd.
6,500 ordinary shares of Rs.10 each 2,761,576 –

Diminution in value of investment (52,051) –

Market value Rs.416.85 per share 2,709,525 –  

Pakistan Industrial Credit and Investment Corporation

4,000 ordinary shares of Rs.10 each 271,724 – 

Diminution in value of investment (12,524) –

Market value Rs.64.80 per share  259,200 –

Held to maturity
Term Deposit Receipt 23.2 454,124,227 –

670,927,050 109,148,931

23.1 Shares of ABAMCO Capital Fund, Adamjee Insurance Company Limited, Faysal Bank
Limited, Fauji Fertilizer Company Limited and National Bank of Pakistan Limited are
pledged as security against various finance facilities.

23.2 The balance represent Investment in TDRs of ABN Amro Bank amounting US $
500,000/- for a period of one month at the rate of 2.60% and in TDRs of NIB Bank
amounting Rs.423.943 million for a period of one month at the rate of 9.00%.

24 CASH AND BANK BALANCES

Cash in hand 1,504,680 2,556,878
Cash with banks in:

current accounts 40,664,598 9,604,150
saving accounts 4,113,383 8,787,582

44,777,981 18,391,732

46,282,661 20,948,610

24.1 Cash at banks on saving and current accounts include foreign currency balances
of US $ 155,229 (2004: US $ 132,764) & Euro 29,293.99 (2004: Nil) which have
been converted into pak rupees at the exchange rate prevailing on the balance
sheet date i.e. US $ 1= Rs. 59.73 (2004:US $ 1=Rs. 59.35) and Euro 1 = Rs.70.71.
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AZGARD-9

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED ACCOUNTS
For the period of 15 months ended 31 december, 2005

31 December, 05 30 September, 04
Note Rupees Rupees

25 SALES -Net 
Local 750,216,920 1,613,246,671
Export - (including indirect export)
net of export development surcharge
amounting to Rs.5,730,404 to (2004: Rs. 3,484,649)
and exchange gain of Rs. 14,794,775
(2004:Rs. 13,221,017) 3,870,557,096 1,657,688,070

Waste 41,428,012 33,097,303

4,662,202,028 3,304,032,044 

Less: Commission to selling agents - Local 34,860,167 3,501,456 
                                                    - Export 19,377,301 34,874,588 

Sales tax 136,731,073 94,596,501 
Brokerage and discounts 10,404,558 10,279,066

201,373,099 143,251,611

4,460,828,929 3,160,780,433
26 COST OF SALES

Raw materials and other direct
materials consumed 1,824,980,048 1,778,889,828
Salaries, wages and benefits 354,746,907 283,661,014
Fuel and power 333,090,255 189,237,711
Store and spares consumed 152,724,507 48,628,540
Travelling ,conveyance and entertainment 9,220,631 16,704,076
Rent, rates and taxes 5,141,456 2,070,589
Insurance 8,064,020 6,792,699
Repair and maintenance 22,665,131 10,793,306
Processing charges 22,330,528 17,529,443
Depreciation 13.3 253,998,842 164,167,467
R & D Amortization 16,965,934 –

Printing & stationery 3,797,218 710,526
Communications 1,872,407 2,530,894
Others 17,745,768 6,921,232

3,027,343,652 2,528,637,325

Adjustment of work in process 
Opening 220,379,606 172,868,794 
Closing (227,469,465) (220,379,606)

(7,089,859) (47,510,812)

Cost of goods manufactured 3,020,253,793 2,481,126,513
Adjustment of finished goods

Opening 568,868,224 472,496,892 

Purchases – 56,024,092 
Closing (266,773,678) (568,868,224)

302,094,546 (40,347,240)

3,322,348,339 2,440,779,273

26.1 Salaries, wages and benefits include contribution to staff retirement benefits
amounting to Rs. 24,325,377 (2004: Rs. 14,531,265).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED ACCOUNTS
For the period of 15 months ended 31 december, 2005

31 December, 05 30 September, 04
Note Rupees Rupees

27 ADMINISTRATIVE AND SELLING EXPENSES

Salaries and benefits 27.1 103,970,037 53,703,016
Travelling and conveyance including
chief executive/directors' 
travelling Rs. 22,367,701 (2004:Rs.9,887,430) 54,340,963 16,005,579
Power and fuel 3,303,763 1,580,446
Repair and maintenance 3,581,988 2,514,315
Rent, rates and taxes 760,014 1,247,250
Insurance 1,764,074 450,145
Freight and clearing charges 80,684,019 48,598,511
Printing and stationery 3,457,129 2,114,502
Communications 19,112,928 11,295,398
Advertisement and sales promotion 4,501,610 6,829,196
Legal and professional charges 27.2 6,472,585 2,127,432
Depreciation 13.3 10,285,193 6,338,324
Amortisation of textile quota 23,564,403 22,964,732
Fees and subscription 3,441,907 2,636,288
Others 8,242,759 8,160,361

327,483,372 186,565,495

27.1 Salaries, wages and benefits include contribution to staff retirement benefits
amounting Rs. 2,886,353 (2004: Rs.2,804,677).

27.2 Legal and professional charges 
The charges for professional services
include the following in respect of
auditor's services for:

Audit 185,000 185,000
Certification and other services 161,250 30,000

346,250 215,000

28 GOVERNMENTS GRANTS
The Holding Company during the period has lodged claims amounting for Rs. 53,036,367
as research & development rebate which has been treated as government grant in
accordance with IAS-20, "Government Grant" and it has been deducted in reporting expenses
relating to hiring the consultants for adoption of new technologies, innovation and sales
promotion.

29 OTHER INCOME 

Financial assets

Gain on sale of investments 199,442,372 1,192,320
Unrealised gain on investments held for trading 35,039,438 6,951,688
Mark-up on TFC'S 29,038,697 –
Dividend income 38,934,462 –

Others

Gain on sale of fixed assets 405,101 266,005
Miscellaneous 2,992,762 744,411

305,852,832 9,154,424 

30 FINANCE COST

Interest on:
Workers' Profit Participation Fund 326,582 818,980

Mark up on:
Long term financing - Secured  93,647,624 23,198,011
Short term borrowings -Secured 9.4 176,264,631 74,804,694

Lease finance charges 9,724,293 16,644,210
Guarantee commission and bank charges 28,512,347 8,242,486
Less: Return on bank deposits (17,966,099) (710,367)

290,509,378 122,998,014

These include mark-up paid to related parties to the tune of Rs. 6,604,158 (2004: 833,912).



A
n

n
u

a
l 

R
e

p
o

rt
 2

0
0

5
 •

 C
o

n
s

o
li

d
a

te
d

89

AZGARD-9

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED ACCOUNTS
For the period of 15 months ended 31 december, 2005

31 December, 05 30 September, 04
Note Rupees Rupees

31 OTHER CHARGES

Loss on disposal of fixed assets 7,066,879 –
Donations 31.1 4,694,172 110,944
Provision for diminution in value of investments – 456

11,761,051 111,400

31.1 Recipients of donations do not include any donee in whom any director or his / her
spouse has any interest.

32 EARNINGS PER SHARE (EPS)

Basic 

Net profit after tax attributable to ordinary share holders 643,016,382 375,726,023

No. of shares No. of shares

Weighted average Number of ordinary shares 86,865,434 86,865,434

Rupees Rupees

EPS 7.40 4.33

Diluted
Net profit after tax attributable to
ordinary shareholders 643,016,382 375,726,023
Effect of dilutive potential ordinary shares:
Interest on convertible TFCs 16,478,929
Preference dividend 24,295,176 319,498
Earnings for the purposes of diluted
earning per share 683,790,487 376,045,521

No. of shares No. of shares
Weighted average number of ordinary
shares for basic EPS 86,865,434 86,865,434
Effect of dilutive potential ordinary shares:
Convertible TFCs 4,203,110 –
Preference shares 14,767,124 242,747
Weighted average no. of ordinary shares for the 
purposes of diluted earning per share 105,835,668 87,108,181

 Rupees Rupees

EPS 6.46 4.32

 33 REMUNERATION OF CHIEF EXECUTIVE AND EXECUTIVES

The aggregate amount charged in the accounts for remuneration, including all benefits,
to the Chief Executive, Directors and Executives of the Company is as follows:

Chief Executive Directors Executives  
2005 2004 2005 2004 2005 2004

Rupees Rupees Rupees Rupees Rupees Rupees
Managerial remuneration

Basic salary 2,400,000 1,799,604 3,625,005 1,379,340 8,869,326 6,192,766
House rent 960,000 240,000 1,450,050 551,726 3,570,688 2,115,980
Utilities 240,000 60,000 362,505 137,938 853,851 564,793
Leave encashment – 60,000 – – –  19,911

Retirement benefits 102,000 – – – 697,790 714,689
Bonus – – – – 185,396 1,388,518

3,702,000 2,159,604 5,437,560 2,069,004 14,177,051 10,996,657
Number of persons 1 1 5 4 11 9

33.1 In addition to above the Chief Executive has been provided with free use of the
Company maintained car. None (2004: None) of the Directors/Executives have been
provided with the Company maintained cars.

33.2 No fee has been paid to the directors during the year (2004: NIL).

33.3 Non of the subsidiaries' directors are paid with remuneration or other benefits.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED ACCOUNTS
For the period of 15 months ended 31 december, 2005

31 December, 05 30 September, 04
Note Rupees Rupees

34 TRANSACTIONS WITH RELATED PARTIES 

Associates:
Retainer ship fee – 1,189,718
Underwriting fee – 26,059,631
Brokerage 4,834,233 230,975
Mark–up paid 6,604,158 833,912
Purchases 48,617,868 –
Misc. expenses 731,800 445,818

There were no receivables or payables to related parties other than those referred in
notes 9.4.

35 CAPACITY AND PRODUCTION
Spinning

No. of Rotors installed 1,290 1,272
Plant capacity on the basis of
utilization converted into 6.5s count -Kgs. 9,331,418 6,382,842
(based on 3 shifts per day) 
Actual production converted into
6.5s count 35.1 -Kgs. 7,566,724 5,145,768

No. of Spindles installed 40,776 39,024
Plant capacity on the basis of
utilization converted into 20s count -Kgs. 14,777,085 10,570,050
(based on 3 shifts per day) 
Actual production converted into
20s count 34.2 -Kgs. 12,136,950 9,561,801

Weaving

No. of Looms installed 102 9 3
Annual rated capacity on the basis
of utilization - at 38 picks -Mtrs. 21,433,949 15,222,452
(based on 3 shifts per day) 
Actual production - at 38 picks Mtrs. 15,951,677 13,871,935

Garments
No. of Stitching machines installed 537 287
Annual capacity on the basis of utilization -Pcs. 4,150,000 2,400,000
(based on 2 shifts per day) 
Actual production -Pcs. 2,261,959 1,583,414

35.1 Reduced requirement of open end yarn in the fabric produced during the period
resulted in under utilisation of production capacity.

35.2 It is difficult to describe precisely the production capacity in the textile industry
since it fluctuates widely depending on various factors such as count of yarn
spun, spindles speed, twist and raw materials used etc. It also varies according
to the pattern of production adopted in particular period.

35.3 Subsidiaries are not involved in any production activities, hence production capacity
statement is not relevant.
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AZGARD-9

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED ACCOUNTS
For the period of 15 months ended 31 december, 2005

31 December, 05 30 September, 04
Note Rupees Rupees

36 CHANGES IN WORKING CAPITAL 

(Increase) in current assets
Stores, spares and loose tools (15,181,662) (26,830,897)
Stock in trade (610,288,250) (159,809,718)
Trade debts (110,461,039) (387,592,772)
Advances, deposits, prepayments and
other receivables (excluding income tax) (186,787,094) (78,008,417)

(Decrease)/increase in current liabilities
Creditors, accrued and other liabilities

(excluding accrued financial charges) 1,910,857 (62,452,185)

(920,807,188) (714,693,989)

37 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 

37.1 Fair value is the amount for which an asset could be exchanged, or a liability
settled between knowledgeable willing parties in an arm's length transaction. As
at 31 December, 2005 the net fair value of all financial instruments has been
based on the valuation methodology outlined below:
Long-term deposits
Long term deposits does not carry any rate of return. Their fair value has been
taken at book value as it is not considered materially different and readily
exchangeable.
Non-current liabilities
For all non-current liabilities the fair values have been taken at book values as
these are not considered materially different based on the current market rates
of return and repricing profiles of similar non-current liabilities.
Other financial instruments
The fair values of all other financial instruments are considered to approximate
their book values as they are short term in nature.

37.2 Financial assets and liabilities 

Interest / Interest / mark–up bearing Non interest / mark–up bearing  

mark–up Maturity Maturity Sub–total Maturity Maturity Sub–total  
rates range upto one after one   upto one after one    

% per year year   year year   Total
annum              

             ( R  U  P  E  E  S )
Financial assets:
Long term investments 6 months kibor – – – – –

+ 2.5% to 3.75% 9,637,121 88,847,424 98,484,545 – 4,670,138 4,670,138 103,154,683
Long term deposits 29,745,135 29,745,135 29,745,135
Trade debtors – 1,034,669,395 1,034,669,395 1,034,669,395
Derivative financial instrument 13,458,916 13,458,916 13,458,916
Advances, deposits and
   other receivables – 26,227,533 26,227,533 26,227,533
Short term investments 2.60% to 9.00% 454,124,227 454,124,227 216,802,823 216,802,823 670,927,050
Cash and bank balances 1% to 3.5% 4,113,383 4,113,383 42,169,278 42,169,278 46,282,661

2005   467,874,731 88,847,424 556,722,155 1,333,327,945 34,415,273 1,367,743,218 1,924,465,373

2004   8,787,582 – 8,787,582 1,100,794,424 1,015,576 1,101,810,000 1,110,597,582

Financial liabilities:
Preference shares 8.95% 868,654,340 868,654,340 868,654,340
Long term financing 5.00% to 12.65% 365,437,468 2,678,232,532 3,043,670,000 – 3,043,670,000

Liabilities against assets
   subject to finance lease 5.50% to 20.30% 68,343,306 40,173,972 108,517,278 – 108,517,278
Long term deposits and
payables 2,907,643 2,907,643 2,907,643
Short term borrowings 3.20% to 11.20% – 3,142,402,324 3,142,402,324 3,142,402,324
Creditors, accrued and other
   liabilities 8.64% 24,509,700 24,509,700 792,280,786 792,280,786 816,790,486
Unclaimed dividend – 362,062 362,062 362,062

2005   458,290,474 3,587,060,844 4,045,351,318 3,937,952,815 – 3,937,952,815 7,983,304,133

2004   363,081,881 866,503,819 1,229,585,700 2,105,338,652 – 2,105,338,652 3,334,924,352

Off balance sheet items:
Commitments – – – 603,890,777 – 603,890,777 603,890,777
Guarantee – – – 24,000,000 – 24,000,000 24,000,000

2005   – – – 627,890,777 – 627,890,777 627,890,777

2004   – – – 300,102,000 – 300,102,000 300,102,000
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED ACCOUNTS
For the period of 15 months ended 31 december, 2005

37.3 Foreign exchange risk management 

Foreign currency risk arises mainly where receivables and payables exists due to
transactions entered into foreign currency. The Holding Company incurs foreign
currency risk on sales, purchases and borrowings that are entered in a currency
other than Pak Rupees. The Holding Company enters into forward contracts to
guard against exchange fluctuation and as such exposure to foreign exchange risk
is minimal.

37.4 Concentration of credit risk

Credit risk represents the accounting loss that would be recognised at the
reporting date if counter parties failed completely to perform as contracted. To
reduce exposure to credit risk, the Group has developed formal approval process
whereby credit limits are applied to customers. The management also continuously
monitors the credit exposure toward the customers and make provisions against
these balances considered doubtful of recovery. Out of total financial assets of
Rs. 1,924 million (2004: 1,133 million), the financial assets which are subject to
credit risk aggregated Rs. 519 million (2004:Rs.423.00 million). The Group believes
that it is not exposed to major concentration of credit risk.

37.5 Interest risk management 
Interest rate risk represents the value of a financial instrument which will fluctuate
due to changes in market interest rate. Since the Holding Company borrows most
of the funds at fixed interest rate or interest rate SWAP contracts are entered
into to hedge any movement in interest rates, the holding company’s exposure to
interest rate risk is minimal.

37.6 Fair values of financial assets and liabilities 

The carrying values of all financial assets and liabilities reflected in the financial
statements approximate to their fair values.

38 NUMBER OF EMPLOYEES 

Number of permanent employees as at December 31, 2005 was 5,625 (2004: 4,512).

39 DIVIDEND 

Directors of Holding Company have proposed 15% cash dividend i.e. Rs. 1.5 per ordinary
share to be approved by the shareholders in ensuing Annual General Meeting to be held
on 28 April 2006. Total amount of cash dividend to be paid Rs.130,298,151 which has
not been accounted for as liability in these financial statements.

40 DATE OF AUTHORISATION FOR ISSUE 

These financial statements were authorised for issue on 28 March 2006 by the Board
of Directors of the Company.

41 FIGURES

– Comparative figures have been re-arranged, wherever necessary, for the purpose
of comparison. Return on bank deposits which was previously grouped under other
income has now been adjusted against finance cost as a matter of prudence.

– Figures in the accounts have been rounded off nearest to rupee.

Chief Executive Director
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Number of Shareholding   Total Shares
Shareholders  From  To  Held

109 1 – 100 5,598

251 101 – 500 91,672

193 501 – 1000 171,454

402 1001 – 5000 1,073,069

107 5001 – 10000 854,102

34 10001 – 15000 441,447

20 15001 – 20000 360,251

16 20001 – 25000 375,978

11 25001 – 30000 300,593

7 30001 – 35000 232,618

5 35001 – 40000 194,005

3 40001 – 45000 130,310

9 45001 – 50000 442,001

3 50001 – 55000 156,105

1 55001 – 60000 56,182

2 60001 – 65000 125,700

1 65001 – 70000 67,457

1 70001 – 75000 75,000

1 75001 – 80000 76,591

1 80001 – 85000 84,272

1 85001 – 90000 87,000

3 90001 – 95000 280,484

2 95001 – 100000 199,265

2 105001 – 110000 214,313

1 110001 – 115000 113,279

2 115001 – 120000 237,791

1 120001 – 125000 140,500

1 125001 – 130000 164,025

1 220001 – 225000 221,000

2 225001 – 230000 457,600

1 230001 – 235000 235,000

1 280001 – 285000 281,000

3 295001 – 300000 900,000

1 300001 – 305000 300,118

1 325001 – 330000 325,500

1 345001 – 350000 347,250

1 350001 – 400000 397,250

1 410001 – 415000 411,265

1 415001 – 420000 416,600

1 445001 – 450000 448,000

1 450001 – 455000 454,000

PATTERN OF SHAREHOLDING
(ORDINARY SHARES)
As at December 31, 2005
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AZGARD-9

As at December 31, 2005

Number of Shareholding   Total Shares
Shareholders  From  To  Held

1 555001 – 560000 555,825

1 610001 – 615000 614,750

1 875001 – 880000 878,739

1 995001 – 1000000 1,000,000

1 1020001 – 1025000 1,020,500

1 1030001 – 1035000 1,033,000

1 1085001 – 1090000 1,090,000

1 1130001 – 1135000 1,135,000

1 1170001 – 1175000 1,170,299

1 1190001 – 1195000 1,195,000

1 1440001 – 1445000 1,441,570

1 1465001 – 1470000 1,466,265

1 1845001 – 1850000 1,846,000

1 1930001 – 1935000 1,933,000

1 2040001 – 2045000 2,043,201

1 2065001 – 2070000 2,069,500

1 2590001 – 2595000 2,592,500

1 3115001 – 3120000 3,120,000

1 3970001 – 3975000 3,970,750

1 4260001 – 4265000 4,261,560

1 7305001 – 7310000 7,308,060

1 8200001 – 8205000 8,200,940

1 24970001 – 24975000 24,973,330

1229 86,865,434

Shareholder's Number of Number of
Category Shareholders Shares Held Percentage

Financial Institution 14 6,983,243 8.04

Individual 1150 58,140,351 66.93

Insurance Companies 4 211,765 0.24

Investment Companies 1 14,929 0.02

Joint Stock Companies 42 11,355,690 13.07

Leasing Companies 2 102 0.00

Modaraba Management Companies 2 165,779 0.19

Mutual Funds 14 9,993,575 11.50

1,229 86,865,434 100.00

PATTERN OF SHAREHOLDING
(ORDINARY SHARES)
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As at December 31, 2005

CATEGORIES OF NUMBER OF  NUMBER OF
SHAREHOLDERS   SHAREHOLDERS  SHARES HELD

Associated Companies, Undertakings
and related parties Nil Nil

NIT and ICP 1 14,929

Directors, Chief Executive Officer
and their spouses and minor children

Mr. Mueen Afzal Chairman 1 1

Mr. Ahmed H. Shaikh CEO 1 4,261,560
Mr. Aehsun M. H. Shaikh Director 1 3,970,750
Mr. Khalid A.H. Al-Sagar Director 1 1,466,265
Chief Justice ( R ) Mian Mahboob Ahmad Director 1 1
Mr. Ali Jehangir Siddiqui Director 1 1
Mr. Mohammed Khaishgi Director 1 1

Executives Nil Nil

Public Sector Companies and Corporation 42 11,355,690

Banks, DFIs, NBFI, Insurance Companies
Leasing Companies, Modarabas & Mutual
Funds 36 17,354,646

Shareholders holdings ten percent or
more voting interest of the Company

Mrs. Nasreen H. Shaikh 1 26,143,629

Detail of trading in shares by the Directors, NIL
CEO, CFO, Company Secretary, their 
Spouses and Minor Children.

CATEGORIES OF SHAREHOLDERS
(ORDINARY SHARES)



A
n

n
u

a
l 

R
e

p
o

rt
 2

0
0

5

97

AZGARD-9

PATTERN OF SHAREHOLDING
(PREFERENCE SHARES)

As at December 31, 2005

Shareholder'sNumber of Number of
Category Shareholders Shares Held Percentage

Financial Institution 5 16,507,132 19.00

Individual 136 31,457,543 36.21

Investment Companies 1 3,984,770 4.59

Joint Stock Companies 7 16,915,939 19.47

Modaraba Management Companies 1 1,286,318 1.48

Mutual Funds 3 15,648,232 18.01

Other 1 1,065,500 1.23

154 86,865,434 100.00

Number of Shareholding   Total Shares
Shareholders  From  To  Held

6 1 – 100 212
35 101 – 500 13,479
20 501 – 1000 18,377
37 1001 – 5000 101,667
16 5001 – 10000 140,100
4 10001 – 15000 47,188
2 15001 – 20000 40,000
2 20001 – 25000 47,500
1 25001 – 30000 26,971
1 30001 – 35000 35,000
1 35001 – 40000 40,000
1 40001 – 45000 45,751
1 45001 – 50000 50,000
1 75001 – 80000 80,000
1 90001 – 95000 92,984
5 95001 – 100000 500,000
1 105001 – 110000 106,313
1 110001 – 115000 114,500
1 125001 – 130000 125,500
1 295001 – 300000 300,000
1 325001 – 330000 325,500
1 885001 – 890000 890,000
1 1055001 – 1060000 1,057,500
1 1065001 – 1070000 1,065,500
1 1135001 – 1140000 1,138,000
1 1285001 – 1290000 1,286,318
1 1545001 – 1550000 1,546,989
1 2220001 – 2225000 2,222,056
1 2995001 – 3000000 3,000,000
1 3090001 – 3095000 3,090,794
1 3980001 – 3985000 3,984,770
1 4005001 – 4010000 4,007,500
1 8865001 – 8870000 8,869,000
1 12365001 – 12370000 12,368,676
1 16805001 – 16810000 16,806,723
1 23280001 – 23285000 23,280,566

154 86,865,434
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CATEGORIES OF SHAREHOLDERS
(PREFERENCE SHARES)

As at December 31, 2005

CATEGORIES OF NUMBER OF  NUMBER OF
SHAREHOLDERS   SHAREHOLDERS  SHARES HELD

ASSOCIATED COMPANIES, UNDERTAKINGS

AND RELATED PARTIES Nil Nil 

NIT and ICP 1 849

Directors, Chief Executive Officer Nil Nil
and their spouses and minor children

Executives Nil Nil

Public Sector Companies and Corporation 7 16,915,939

Banks, DFIs, NBFI, Insurance Companies

Leasing Companies, Modarabas & Mutual
Funds 11 38,491,952

Shareholders holdings ten percent or

more voting interest of the Company

Mrs. Nasreen H. Shaikh 1 23,280,566
CDC–Trustee ABAMCO Composite Fund 1 16,806,723
Jahangir Siddiqui & Company Limited 1 12,368,676

Detail of trading in shares by the Directors, NIL
CEO, CFO, Company Secretary, their 
Spouses and Minor Children.
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FORM OF PROXY

I/We

of       a member/members of the Company

and holder of                      shares as per Registered Folio/CDC A/c No.                         do hereby appoint

Mr./Ms.                                                                                      of

a member of the Company, vide Registered Folio/CDC A/c No. or failing him/her

Mr./Ms.                                                                                      of

who is also a member of the Company, vide Registered Folio/CDC A/c No. as

my/our proxy to attend, speak and vote for me/us and on my/our behalf at the 13th Annual General Meeting

of the Company to be held on March 28, 2006 at 10:00 AM at Registered Office, Aiwan-i-Science,

Off Shahrah-i-Roomi, Lahore and at any adjournment thereof.

As witness my/our hand this                 day of     March,       2006.

1.   Witness

2.   Witness

Date:

Place:

IMPORTANT:

1. The Proxy Form must be deposited at the registered office of the Company at Aiwan-i-Science,
Shahr-i-Roomi, Lahore, not later than 48 hours before the time of holding the Meeting and
in default Proxy Form will not be treated as valid.

2. No person shall act as proxy unless he/she is a member of the Company except a corporate
entity being a member may appoint as its proxy any officer of such corporate entity whether
a member of the Company or not.

3. If a member appoints more than one proxy and more than one instruments of proxy are
deposited by a member with the Company, all such instruments of proxy shall be rendered
invalid.

FOR CDC ACCOUNT HOLDERS/CORPORATE ENTITIES:

In addition to the above, the following requirements have to be met:

i) The Proxy Form shall be witnessed by two persons whose names, addresses and NIC numbers
shall be mentioned on the form.

ii) Attested copies of NIC or the passport of the beneficial owners and the proxy shall be
furnished with the Proxy Form.

iii) The proxy shall produce his original NIC or original passport at the time of the meeting.

iv) In case of corporate entity, the Board of Directors' resolution/power of attorney with
specimen signature shall be submitted (unless it has been provided earlier) alongwith Proxy
Form to the Company.

Please affix
here revenue stamp

and
sign across

Signature of member(s)

AZGARD NINE LIMITED



The Company Secretary,

AZGARD NINE LIMITED
ISMAIL AIWAN-E-SCIENCE
OFF SHAHRAH-E-ROOMI
LAHORE, 54600
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